

University of South-Eastern Norway

> FMH606 Master's Thesis 2022 Electrical Power Engineering

Application of Design of Experiments for the Verification of a Hydro Power Plant



Le Nam Hai Pham

Faculty of Technology, Natural Sciences and Maritime Sciences Campus Porsgrunn

www.usn.no

University of South-Eastern Norway

Course:	FMH60	606 Master's Thesis 2022		
Title:	Applica	cation of Design of Experiments for the Verification of a Hydro		
Pages: Keywords:	Power 129 Design mola, 1	r Plant n of Experiments, DoE, Hydropower, OpenHPL, OpenIPSL, Dy- Modelica		
Stu Super External par	ident: visor: rtner:	Le Nam Hai Pham Dietmar Winkler Skagerak Kraft AS (Ingunn Granstrøm)		

Summary:

Hydropower is one of the top interest research in renewable energy towards the transition of clean and green energy, therefore, there are increasingly simulation models of hydroelectric power plant with the purpose of examining and predicting the characteristic and behavior of hydropower plant during the different operating conditions. In progress of modelling and simulating, these models need to be verified and optimized to give the high reliable simulation results. Under the vast amount of data, there are some difficulties to filter out the necessary parameters for the simulation and realize unknown source leading to difference between simulation results and reference values, therefore, it requires an organized and systematic method where "Design of Experiments" method are applied.

"Design of Experiments" (DoE) is a powerful data collection and analysis tool with planning, conducting, analyzing and interpreting experiments to evaluate the factors affecting responses of experiments. The main subject of DoE application in this thesis is simulation model of Grunnåi hydropower plant that has been built before by Dymola/Modelica in combination with OpenHPL and OpenIPSL. All of portions of this hydropower plant model are experimented according to DoE procedures with the purpose of model verification and optimization. Through performing these verification experiments, the hydropower plant model has been optimized and completed.

This thesis presents how to apply DoE method in verifying simulation models of hydropower plant under the vast amount of data as a premise for other verification experiments of associated simulation models in various of engineering field.

The University of South-Eastern Norway accepts no responsibility for the results and conclusions presented in this report.

Preface

This thesis is the conclusion of a two-year program of Master of Science in Electrical Power Engineering at University of South-Eastern Norway and this thesis is submitted to the Department of Electrical Engineering, IT and Cybernetics at campus Porsgrunn.

As a continuation of Project – Modelling and Verification of the Grunnåi Research Power Plant in the autumn 2021, the Master's Thesis is performed in the next semester, the spring 2022. The focus of this thesis is mainly applying experiments to verify the previous simulation model of the hydropower plant.

Firstly, I would like to express my most thankful to my supervisor, Dietmar Winkler for his investment of time, patience, and assistance in whole of the thesis's work. His dedicated advise, guidance and encouragement play an instrumental role in the completion of the thesis. Secondly, I would like to thank Ingunn Granstrøm from Skagerak Kraft AS for sharing the information, practical values and technical solutions to the project. In addition, thanks to Kristian Nymoen for supplying and sharing the necessary operation dataset of the hydropower plant, without the data, the simulation model cannot be completed.

Finally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my entire family, especially my parents, they are my solid fundamental helping me get through difficulties in my life with the strong encouragement and motivation.

Thank you, Tusen takk, Cảm ơn tất cả !!

Porsgrunn, 18th May 2022

Le Nam Hai Pham

Contents

Pr	Preface 5				
Сс	ontent	S		9	
	List o	of Figure	25	12	
	List	of Tables	5	13	
1	Intro	oductior	1	17	
	1.1	Backgr	<i>r</i> ound	17	
	1.2	Object	ives and Scope	18	
	1.3	Outline	e	18	
2	Desi	gn of Ex	periments	21	
	2.1	Introdu	uction	21	
	2.2	Basic P	Principles of DoE	23	
		2.2.1	Randomization	23	
		2.2.2	Replication	23	
		2.2.3	Blocking	24	
	2.3	Experi	mental Designs	24	
		2.3.1	One Factor Designs	24	
		2.3.2	Factorial Designs	25	
		2.3.3	Response Surface	26	
	2.4	DoE St	eps	26	
		2.4.1	Objectives Recognition	27	
		2.4.2	Selection of Response	27	
		2.4.3	Selection of Process Variables	27	
		2.4.4	Evaluation Recognition	28	
		2.4.5	Selection of Experimental Design	28	
		2.4.6	Performing the Experiments	28	
		2.4.7	Interpreting Experimental Results	29	
		2.4.8	Conclusions and Recommendations	29	
	2.5	Statisti	ical Background of DoE	29	
		2.5.1	Linear Regression	29	

3	Syste	em Desc	ription	31
	3.1	Hydrau	lic System	32
		3.1.1	Inlet System	34
		3.1.2	Turbine System	37
		3.1.3	Outlet System	40
	3.2	Electric	al System	40
		3.2.1	Generator	42
		3.2.2	Transformer	42
4	Grur	nnåi Pow	ver Plant	45
	4.1	Hydrau	lic System	46
		4.1.1	Geometry Data	46
		4.1.2	Measurement Data of Hydraulic System	47
	4.2	Electric	al System	48
	~ "			
5	Soft	ware		51
	5.1	Modeli	сас.	51
	5.2	Python		51
	5.3	Dymola)	52
	5.4	OpenH	۲L	52
	5.5	OpenIP	'SL	53
6	Prev	ious Wo	rk	55
6 7	Prev Met	ious Wo hods	rk	55 59
6 7	Prev Met	ious Wo hods DoE Pri	rk inciples	55 59 59
6 7	Prev Met	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1	rk nciples	55 59 59 59
6 7	Prev Met	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2	rk inciples	55 59 59 59 59
6 7	Prev Met 7.1	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3	rk Inciples	55 59 59 59 59 60
6 7	Prev Met 7.1	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Uncont	rk inciples	55 59 59 59 59 60 60
6 7	Prev Met 7.1 7.2 7.3	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Uncont Sequen	rk Inciples	55 59 59 59 60 60 60
6 7	Prev Met 7.1 7.2 7.3	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Uncont Sequen 7.3.1	rk inciples	55 59 59 59 60 60 60 60
6 7	Prev Met 7.1 7.2 7.3	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Uncont Sequen 7.3.1 7.3.2	rk Inciples	55 59 59 59 60 60 60 61 62
6 7	Prev Met 7.1 7.2 7.3	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Uncont Sequen 7.3.1 7.3.2 Compo	rk inciples Blocking Replication Replication Randomization	55 59 59 60 60 60 61 62 63
6 7	Prev Met 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Uncont Sequen 7.3.1 7.3.2 Compo 7.4.1	rk inciples Blocking Replication Randomization Randomizati	55 59 59 59 60 60 60 61 62 63 63
6 7	Prev Met 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Uncont Sequen 7.3.1 7.3.2 Compo 7.4.1 7.4.2	rk inciples Blocking Blocking Replication Replication Randomization Rand	55 59 59 60 60 61 62 63 63 63
6 7	Prev Met 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Uncont Sequen 7.3.1 7.3.2 Compo 7.4.1 7.4.2 7.4.3	rk inciples Blocking Replication Randomization Randomizati	55 59 59 59 60 60 60 61 62 63 63 63 64
6 7	Prev Met 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Uncont Sequen 7.3.1 7.3.2 Compo 7.4.1 7.4.2 7.4.3 7.4.3 7.4.4	rk inciples Blocking Replication Randomization Randomization Randomization Planning Experiments Planning Experiments of Hydraulic System Model Planning Experiments Flowrate Sensor Block Nozzle Opening Block Volume Flow Source Block	55 59 59 60 60 61 62 63 63 63 64 65 65
6 7	Prev Met 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Uncont Sequen 7.3.1 7.3.2 Compo 7.4.1 7.4.2 7.4.3 7.4.3 7.4.4 7.4.5	rk inciples Blocking Replication Randomization Randomizati	55 59 59 60 60 61 62 63 63 63 64 65 65 65
6	Prev Met 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Uncont Sequen 7.3.1 7.3.2 Compo 7.4.1 7.4.2 7.4.3 7.4.4 7.4.5 Linear I	rk inciples Blocking Replication Randomization Randomization Randomization Planning Experiments Planning Experiments of Hydraulic System Model Planning Experiments of Electrical System Model Planning Experiments Flowrate Sensor Block Nozzle Opening Block Nozzle Opening Block Nozzle Opening Block Regression	55 59 59 59 60 60 61 62 63 63 63 64 65 65 67 69
6	Prev Met 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Uncont Sequen 7.3.1 7.3.2 Compo 7.4.1 7.4.2 7.4.3 7.4.3 7.4.4 7.4.5 Linear I Data Ad	rk inciples Blocking Blocking Replication Randomization Randomization Randomization Planning Experiments Planning Experiments of Hydraulic System Model Planning Experiments Planning Experiments Flowrate Sensor Block Nozzle Opening Block Nozzle Opening Block Volume Flow Source Block Turbine Block Regression Cquisition and Preparation	55 59 59 60 60 61 62 63 63 63 64 65 65 67 69 69
6	Prev Meth 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6	ious Wo hods DoE Pri 7.1.1 7.1.2 7.1.3 Uncont 7.3.1 7.3.2 Compo 7.4.1 7.4.2 7.4.3 7.4.4 7.4.5 Linear I Data Ao 7.6.1	rk inciples Blocking Replication Randomization Randomization Randomization Randomization Randomization Randomization Randomization Randomization Randomization Reperiments Planning Experiments of Hydraulic System Model Planning Experiments of Electrical System Model Planning Experiments Flowrate Sensor Block Flowrate Sensor Block Nozzle Opening Block Nozzle Opening Block Volume Flow Source Block Regression Cquisition and Preparation Data Format	55 59 59 59 60 60 61 62 63 63 63 64 65 65 67 69 69

	7.7	DoE Ste	eps	. 70
		7.7.1	Selection of Experimental Design	. 70
		7.7.2	Interpreting Experimental Results	. 71
		7.7.3	Evaluation Recognition	. 72
8	Ехре	riments		73
	8.1	Inlet Sy	rstem Experiments	. 73
		8.1.1	Group 1 Experiments	. 74
		8.1.2	Group 2 Experiments	. 81
	8.2	Turbine	System Experiments	. 87
		8.2.1	Experiment 5 - Influence of hydraulic efficiency curves	. 87
		8.2.2	Experiment 6 - Mathematical model	. 90
		8.2.3	Experiment 7 - Verify mathematical models	. 93
	8.3	Outlet	System Experiment	. 98
		8.3.1	Experiment 8 - Culvert diameter	. 98
	8.4	Electric	al System Experiment	. 100
		8.4.1	Experiment 9 - Voltage drop	. 100
9	Discu	ussion		103
	9.1	Measu	rement Data	. 103
	9.2	DoE M	ethod	. 104
		9.2.1	DoE Principles	. 104
		9.2.2	DoE Steps	. 104
	9.3	Experir	nents	. 105
10	Conc	lusion a	nd Further Work	107
	10.1	Conclu	sions	. 107
	10.2	Furthe	[•] work	. 108
Bib	oliogra	aphy		109
Α	Арре	endix A		115
D	۸۳۳۰	ndiy P	Confidential Appendix	44.0
D	Ahhe			119
С	Арре	endix C -	Confidential Appendix	121
D	Appendix D - Confidential Appendix			125

List of Figures

2.1	General model of process or system [5]	22
3.1 3.2 3.3	Typical structure of storage hydropower plant [23]	32 33
3.4	and head loss [31]	37
3.5	Generator unit at typical hydropower plant [41]	$\frac{39}{43}$
4.14.24.3	Screenshot of the map showing location with USN at blue point and Grun- nåi power plant at red point [45]	45 46 49
$5.1 \\ 5.2$	Screenshot of OpenHPL	53 53
$6.1 \\ 6.2 \\ 6.3 \\ 6.4$	Previous work - Simulation model of hydraulic system	55 55 56 57
$7.1 \\ 7.2 \\ 7.3 \\ 7.4 \\ 7.5 \\ 7.6 \\ 7.7 \\ 7.8 \\ 7.9$	Planned sequence of experiments of hydraulic system model	$\begin{array}{c} 61 \\ 63 \\ 64 \\ 64 \\ 65 \\ 65 \\ 66 \\ 67 \\ 68 \end{array}$
8.1	Hydraulic system model with three main parts	73

80	Simulation model of experiment 1
0.4 8 3	Experiment 1 Comparison of experiment and measurement values 76
8.J	Experiment 1 - Comparison of experiment and measurement values 70 Experiment 1 - Confirmation run
8.5	Experiment 1 - Commutation run
8.6	Croup 1 and group 2 elements in model of inlet system
8.7	Simulation model of design 3 in experiment 3
8.8	Experiment 3 Comparison of experiment and measurement values 83
8.0	Experiment 3 - Comparison of experiment and measurement values
8.9 8.10	Experiment 4 - Comparison of experiment and measurement values
8.10 8.11	Three main parts of hydraulic system model
8.12	Simulation model of experiment 5
8.12	Experiment 5 Comparison of experiment and measurement values 80
8.1 <i>J</i>	Simulation model for experiment 6
8 15	Experiment 6 Collected results from simulation model
8 16	Experiment 6 - Actual response and calculated response from T1 and T2
0.10	mathematical model 02
8 17	Simulation model for experiment 7 94
8 18	Experiment 7 - Comparison of experiment and measurement values 94
8 10	Simulation model for confirmation run in experiment 7
8 20	Experiment 7 - Confirmation run using mathematical model of T1 06
8.20	Experiment 7 - Confirmation run using mathematical model of T2
8.22	Simulation model of experiment 8
8.23	Change the water level in the culvert according to its diameter 99
8.24	Complete model of hydraulic system with three verified and optimized parts 100
8.25	Simulation model of experiment 9
8.26	Experiment 9 - Comparison between experiment and calculation values 101
0.20	Experiment b Comparison Setween experiment and calculation values For
B.1	Tunnel dimension of Grunnåi power plant waterway (from Tunneloversikt
	drawing)
0.1	
C.1	Equivalent circuit of transmission system of G1 branch
D.1	Screenshot of T1 hydraulic efficiency curve used in previous work that used
	peak values of 5 curves - x axis is opening vane value, y axis is hydraulic
	efficiency value (required parameter of original block)
D.2	Screenshot of hydraulic efficiency curve retrieved from T2 hydraulic effi-
	ciency block - x axis is flowrate (m^3/s) , y axis is hydraulic efficiency value . 126
D.3	Screenshot of hydraulic efficiency curves retrieved from T1 hydraulic effi-
	ciency block and used for experiments
D.4	Provided information of T2 hydraulic efficiency
D.5	Provided information of T1 hydraulic efficiency

List of Tables

$3.1 \\ 3.2$	Pipe roughness value according to pipe material [27]	34
0.2	modeling [39]	42
4.1	The waterway geometry, Grunnåi power plant	47
4.2	Turbines nominal operational values, Grunnåi power plant, Grunnåi power	
	plant	47
4.3	The necessary measurement quantity name for experiments	47
4.4	The name of measurements corresponding to the location of the measure-	
	ment matching the name of necessary quantities	48
4.5	Tolerances in full scale (FS) measured range of sensors	48
8.1	MAPE of experiment 1	75
8.2	MAPE of confirmation run of experiment 1	76
8.3	Tunnel roughness parameter of each level	78
8.4	MAPE of experiment 2	79
8.5	MAPE of experiment 3	83
8.6	Loss coefficient parameter of "bendPipe" component	84
8.7	MAPE of experiment 4	85
8.8	MAPE of confirmation run in experiment 4	86
8.9	MAPE of experiment 5	89
8.10	MAPE of experiment 6	93
8.11	MAPE of experiment 7	95
8.12	MAPE of confirmation run in experiment 7	95
C.1	Parameter of components in equivalent circuit of transmission system	121

Nomenclature

Acronyms

USN	University of South-Eastern Norway
DoE	Design of Experiments
OFAT	One factor at a time
PE	Percent error
MAPE	Mean absolute percentage error
T1	Turbine 1
T2	Turbine 2
G1	Generator 1
G2	Generator 2
TX1	Transformer 1
TX2	Transformer 2
TX3	Transformer 3
TX4	Transformer 4
L1	Transmission line 1
L2	Transmission line 2
L3	Transmission line 3
L4	Transmission line 4
CSV	Comma-Separated Values
OpenHPL	Open-source hydropower library
OpenIPSL	Open-instance power system library
pu	Per-unit
AC	Alternating current
DC	Direct current

Symbols

Q	Volumetric flowrate	$[m^{3}/s]$
V	Volume	$[m^3]$
A	Cross-sectional area	$[m^2]$
d	Diameter	[m]
v	Flow velocity	[m/s]
р	Pressure of fluid	[Pascal]
ρ	Density of fluid	$[kg/m^3]$
8	Acceleration of gravity	$[m/s^2]$
ĥ	Height	[m]
Zres	Level of upper reservoir	[m]
Z_{tw}	Level of tail race water	[m]
H_{g}	Gross head	[m]
H_n	Net head	[m]
h_f	Head loss due to friction	[m]
P_n	Net power	[W]
η_h	Hydraulic efficiency	
Sbase	Base apparent power	[MVA]
Vbase	Base voltage	[V]
Ibase	Base current	[A]
Z_{base}	Base impedance	$[\Omega]$
P_r	Power at the runner of turbine	[W]
P_s	Power at the shaft of turbine	[W]
η_m	Mechanical efficiency	
R	Resistance	$[\Omega]$
X	Reactance	$[\Omega]$
Ζ	Impedance	$[\Omega]$

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

In contemporary society, there has been a raise concern in renewable energy in satisfying human's demand of energy due to the transition of more environment-friendly source of energy. There is no denying on the influence of renewable energy in contributing to the total worldwide energy and reducing the greenhouse effect and global warming. In the world's sources of renewable energy, hydropower is the biggest source and generates the most electricity [1]. According to the data from the International Energy Agency (IEA) and the US Energy Information Administration (EIA), while in 2013, it represented over 16% of the world's total energy production – in contrast other renewable sources accounted for less than 6% [1]. Because of the advantage of hydropower as renewable, efficiency and reliable source of energy as well as the source that generates the most electricity, hydropower technology is always concerned and developed and the main interest of research.

One of the countries with the highest production of electricity from hydropower around the world is Norway. Hydropower is main resource generating electricity of the Norwegian electricity system [2]. In a normal year, the Norwegian hydropower plants produce 136.4 TWh, which is 90% of Norway total power production [2]. With Norway's leadership in hydroelectric technology, Norwegian hydropower plants have always been an interest of studies in modelling hydropower plants based on associated software and tools.

A hydropower plant model is mathematical combination of each units of a real plant, which represents the same characteristic to the real system. The simulations allow doing experiments on the model to examine and predict the characteristic behavior of real plant according to the different operation conditions. There are various number of software used for modelling and simulating of hydropower plant. However, in progress of modelling and simulating, these models need to be verified and optimized to give the most reliable simulation results. In addition, facing the vast amount of data from the hydropower plant, setting up experiments on model consumes a lot of time and effort. Therefore, it is crucial to do the experiments in an organized and systematic way where "Design of Experiments" methods will be applied.

In cooperation with Skagerak Kraft, among the largest power producers in Norway that delivers about 5700 GWh of clean, renewable energy from 48 wholly or partially owned

power plants [3], the model for studying characteristics of the hydropower plant located at Seljord municipality in Telemark county of Norway during different operating scenarios was created. The main objective is to verify and optimize this hydropower plant model and contributes effective procedures to the verification of simulation models in every field of engineering.

1.2 Objectives and Scope

The thesis is based on the project work done in the first semester at the last year at USN [4]. During the project work, a simple model of a hydropower plant was made and showed a literature study about modelling hydraulic system and electrical system. However, under the vast amount of data, there are some difficulties to filter out the necessary parameters for the simulation and realize the unknown source leading to the discrepancy between simulation results and realistic measurement. Therefore, this thesis is desirable to give specific implementation steps for experiments with the purpose of verifying and optimizing the simulation model of hydropower plant.

The original task description can be found in Appendix A. To sum up, there are main objectives of this thesis:

- Familiarize with the existing Modelica model of the waterway and electrical installation.
- Familiarize with the "Design of Experiments" principles.
- Investigate the available data and parameter that can potentially tuned for given available data.
- Define and plan suitable sequence of simulation cases in order to obtain data to verify and adjust certain parameters of the models.
- Execute the planned simulation cases and adapt the models accordingly.
- Document the achieved verification and uncertainties, both in the report and in the test models.

1.3 Outline

The report has the following structure to provide a general understanding of "Design of Experiments" (DoE), the structure of hydropower plant, its simulation model and the application of DoE in verifying the model. A summary of each chapter's content is as follows:

Chapter 2

This chapter introduces the basic concepts, principles and procedures of "Design of Experiments".

Chapter 3

This chapter contains the system descriptions of typical hydropower plant.

Chapter 4

This chapter introduces the general information of Grunnåi hydropower plant that is the main subject of the thesis.

Chapter 5

This chapter contains the information of the software that will be used in this thesis.

Chapter 6

This section contains the information of previous work.

Chapter 7

This section presents the methods that are used in the experiments.

Chapter 8

This section contains sets of experiment for simulation model verification.

Chapter 9

This chapter contains the discussion regarding to the results of experiment, measurement data and application of methods.

Chapter 10

This final chapter describes the conclusions which can be figured out from the report based on the presented data and information.

2 Design of Experiments

Experiments are performed today in many engineering and scientist field to gain the understanding and knowledge of various processes. In an engineering environment, experiments are often conducted to explore, estimate and confirm. Exploration implies understanding the data from the process. Estimation refers to determine the effects of process variables or factors on the output performance. Confirmation refers to verifying the results obtained from the experiments. Therefore, to obtain efficient experiments, the design of experiments plays an important role. [5]

This chapter introduces the basic concepts, principles and procedures of design of experiments. Design of Experiments is abbreviated as DoE throughout this chapter as well as the Master's Thesis.

2.1 Introduction

Design of Experiments (DoE) is a systematic, efficient methodology that can be effective for general problem-solving, as well as for improving or optimizing product design and manufacturing processes [6]. It is structured approach for collecting data and making discoveries. Specific applications of DoE include identify proper design dimensions and tolerances, generating math models that describe physical system behavior, and determining ideal configuration settings.

According to [7], the main uses of DoE are the following:

- Comparison: is used to select the best option among multiple alternatives.
- Variable screening: is to select important factors (variables) among many that affect performances of a system, process, or product.
- Transfer function identification: if important input variables are identified, the relationship between the input variables and output variable can be used for further performance exploration of the system, process or product via a transfer function.
- System optimization: the transfer function can be used for optimization by moving the experiment to optimum setting of the variables. By this way performances of the system, process or product can be improved.

• Robust design: deals with reduction of variation in the system, process or product without elimination of its causes. Generally, factors that cause product variation can be categorized in three main groups, external/environmental, internal or unit to unit variation.

DoE begins typically with the objectives determination of an experiment and selecting the process factors for the study. A well-chosen experimental design is the detailed experimental plan prior to doing the experiment that maximize the amount of factors for a given amount of experimental effort.

The statistical theory underlying DoE generally begins with the understanding of the process. A process is the transformation of inputs into output. In performing a designed experiment, the input factors are typically changed to observe corresponding changes in the output responses. The general model of a process or system is illustrated in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1: General model of process or system [5]

In variety of situations, the process variables or factors can be controlled easily while some of them are difficult to control. Controllable variables play a main role in the process characterization since it is easy to use them to control the process during an experiment. Uncontrollable variables are difficult to control therefore they can make the variability in the process performance.

2.2 Basic Principles of DoE

2.2.1 Randomization

Randomization is the practice of using chance methods to assign treatments to experimental units in a manner that protects against unintended influences on the assignments. A treatment which is one specific combinations of several factors at specific levels, are applied to a set of experimental units to plan an experiment to ensure valid statistical analysis is possible. Randomization allows experimenters to safeguard against unforeseeable and uncontrollable variables which might have mask relationships between the factors and the response. [8]

By randomizing the order in which experimental runs are done, it helps reduce the chance that differences in experimental materials or conditions strongly bias results. Randomization also lets estimate the inherent variations so the valid statistical inferences based on the data from the experiments can be made. [9]

In a designed experiment, according to [10], randomization should be applied for the following:

- The experiment runs take a roughly equal amount of time and resources to complete.
- It is possible that unforeseeable and/or uncontrollable variables could have a moderate to several affect the study results.
- There is a desire to have the separate data analyses agree from different statisticians.

2.2.2 Replication

Replication means repetitions of the entire basic experiment or a portion of it under one or more conditions. In other words, it is a process of running the experimental trials in a random sequence. Replication is very principal because it adds information about the reliability of the conclusions or estimates to be drawn from the data. Therefore, it has two important properties.

These are:

- Allowing the experimenter to gain the experimental error estimation.
- Permitting the experimenter to gain a more precise estimate of the factor/interaction effect.

It is noted that if the number of replicated is equal to one or unity, the conclusions of the effect of the factors or interactions cannot be given. Therefore, it is necessary to have sufficient the number of replicates. [5][11]

2.2.3 Blocking

Blocking is a method of eliminating the effects of extraneous variation according to noise factors, thereby improving the efficiency of experimental designs [5]. In the statistical theory of the design of experiments, the experimental units in groups or blocks, which are similar to one other, are arranged. Generally, a blocking factor is a source of variability that is not of primary interest of the experimental designs [12].

Experimenters can collect data under the same experimental conditions in the same block and determine the variability between blocks from the experimental error, which increases the precision of the experiments [5].

2.3 Experimental Designs

This section describes the most common experimental designs that are usually applied in experiments. These types of design are one factor designs, factorial designs and response surface.

2.3.1 One Factor Designs

One factor designs, also known as "one factor at a time" (OFAT), are the designs where only one factor is under investigation, and the objective is to determine whether the response different at different factor levels. The factor can be qualitative or quantitative [13]. Quantitative data refers to any information that can be quantified, counted or measured, and given a numerical value while qualitative data is descriptive, expressed in terms of language rather than numerical values [14].

In one factor designs, in the case of qualitative factors, the experiments can be performed outside the tested levels, and only the effect of the factor on the response can be determined. On the other hand, data from the experiments where the factors is quantitative can be used for both effect investigation and prediction, provided that sufficient data are available. [13]

OFAT is a traditional approach to experimentation and is preferred in situations where the data is cheap and abundant. Experimenters can decide upon the number of experiments to be conducted.

2.3.2 Factorial Designs

In this type, multiple factors with two or more, are investigated simultaneously during the experiments. Similar as one factor designs, qualitative and/or quantitative factors can be considered. The objective of these designs is to identify the factors that have a significant effect on the response, as well as investigate the effect of interactions of factors [13].

According to [15], the main advantages of using factorial experimental design is:

- Efficiency: Factorial designs are significantly more efficient and can provide more information at a similar or lower cost by using multiple factors simultaneously instead of using each factor in turn.
- Low-cost: Additional factors can be examined without having to bear additional cost for extra experiments.
- Comprehensive results: The effects of a factor as an estimate at several levels of other factors can be calculated and helps yield conclusions that are valid over a range of different experimental conditions.

Factorial designs has also the common following types, general full factorial designs, two level factorial designs and two level fractional factorial designs.

General Full Factorial Designs

General full factorial designs are applied where each factor in experiments can have a different number of levels, and the factors can be quantitative, qualitative or both [13]. The number of experiment runs can be calculated for a general full factorial designs by:

$$n = X^k \tag{2.1}$$

Where:

- \boldsymbol{n} Number of experiment runs
- $X\,$ Number of levels or settings of variables or factors
- $k\,$ Number of variables or factors

Two Level Full Factorial Designs

These are factorial designs where the number of levels of each factor is restricted to two. According to Equation (2.1), full factorial two level experiments are also known as 2^k designs. Restricting the levels to two and running a full factorial experiment reduces the number of treatments and allows experimenter for the investigation of all the factors and their interactions [13]. The 2^k full factorial design is particularly use full in the early stage of experimental work, especially when the number of process parameters or design factors is less than or equal to 4. In the experiments, if all factors are quantitative, the data from such experiments can be used for predictive purposes, provided a linear model is appropriate for modelling the response.

Two Level Fractional Factorial Designs

This design is a special category of two level designs when very often experimenters do not have adequate time, resources and budget to carry out full factorial experiments. In this design, not all factor level combinations are considered and used, experimenters can choose which combination are to be excluded.

2.3.3 Response Surface

A response surface design is a set of advanced design of experiments that help better understand and optimize the response. This design is often used to refine models after having the determination of important factors [9]. It is very useful for:

- Understanding or mapping a region of a response surface.
- Finding the levels of variables that optimize a response.
- Selecting the operating conditions to meet specifications.

2.4 DoE Steps

In this section, the steps to perform experiments are given. To gain good results of experiments, the key steps of DoE can be divided into the following stages. These are:

- Objectives recognition
- Selection of response
- Selection of process variables

- Evaluation criteria recognition
- Selection of experimental design
- Performing the experiment
- Interpreting experimental results
- Conclusions and recommendations

2.4.1 Objectives Recognition

A clear statement of problem or the objectives for an experiment can be given to gain the understanding of what needs to be done. The statement should contain a specific and measurable objective that can optimize the practical value. Clearly defined goals or objectives of the experiments are important and have influences to the later steps of experiments. Prioritization of the objectives can help determine the direction to continue according to the selection of the relevant factors, responses and the particular design [5].

2.4.2 Selection of Response

The selection of a suitable response for the experiment is important to the success of experiment. The response, or output of experiment which are potentially influenced by the factors and their respective levels, should be certain to provide the useful information about the process under study. In common experiments, the important outcomes are measured and analyzed to determine the factors and their settings that will provide the best overall outcome for the quality characteristics. [16]

2.4.3 Selection of Process Variables

This stage is to consider the factors or the inputs to the process that may influence the performance of a process or system. This stage is crucial of experimental procedure since if the important factors are left out of the experiment, then the response of the experiment will not be accurate and useful for any later improvement actions [5].

The process variables have levels or settings that are the hold values during the experiments. Determination of levels of each factors or their level combinations would assist in studying the influence of process variables on the response.

2.4.4 Evaluation Recognition

After finishing the selection of the objectives of experiments, process and response variables, the experimental evaluation criteria is given before conducting experiments that is the criterion for evaluate whether the experimental result accurate or not. The success or failure of experiments is based on this criteria. There are many criteria, and almost them depend on the design and type of experiment. Some are listed:

• Accuracy: refers to how close or far of a given set of experimental result to the true value or reference value. The accuracy can be expressed via the percent error (PE) that is the difference between the experimental values and the actual values. Smaller PE mean the experimental values are close to the accepted or real value. According to [17], the percent error (PE) can be derived by:

$$PE = \frac{|Actual Value - Experimental Value|}{Actual Value} \times 100\%$$
(2.2)

• Precision: It is measure of the scatter of results of several observations and is not related to the true value. It is a comparative measure of observed values and is only a measure of the random errors that is expressed as the standard deviation of observed values from repeated results under identical condition. [5]

2.4.5 Selection of Experimental Design

The choice of an experimental design depends on the objectives of the experiment and the number of factors to be investigated. If the above stages are done correctly, this step is relatively easy. Based on experimental design, number of trial runs can be estimated that is important for experiments taking a lot of budgets and time to perform. Some of common experimental designs are listed in Section 2.3.

2.4.6 Performing the Experiments

In this stage, the planned experiments are carried out and conducted. When running the experiment, it is vital to monitor the process carefully to ensure that everything is being done correctly according to the plan. In addition, the performance of experiments should avoid the external sources of noise during this stage that can be destroy experimental validity. In progress of performing the experiments, the responses of experiments are recorded or collected to analyze in the next stage.

2.4.7 Interpreting Experimental Results

After having collected responses of experiments, the experimental results should be analyzed to lead to the final conclusions of the experiments based on the given objectives. There are several methods assisting in interpreting experimental results, the most common and simplest method is graphical representation that is an attractive method of visualizing numerical data.

Graphical representation is useful aids to portray the results of experiments. The general principle is to convey as much information as possible in the figure, with the constraint that the reader is not overwhelmed by too much detail [18]. There are many different types of graph in graphical representation, some of common are line graph, dot plot, scatter plot, bar chart or pie chart [19].

2.4.8 Conclusions and Recommendations

This stage is to carry out the practical conclusions about the experimental results and recommendation for the next actions. The conclusions are given is based on the evaluation criteria as step 4. The confirmation testing is also performed in this stage to validate the conclusions from the experiment.

2.5 Statistical Background of DoE

This section illustrates the statistical background of DoE.

2.5.1 Linear Regression

In statistics, linear regression is a linear approach for modelling the relationship between a scalar response and one or more explanatory variables. The case of one explanatory variable called simple linear regression, and for more than one, the process is called multiple linear regression. [20]

According to [21], a general multiple linear regression model with one response and i variables is expressed as:

$$y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 x_1 + \beta_2 x_2 + \dots + \beta_i x_i \tag{2.3}$$

where:

 \boldsymbol{y} - Response variable

 $x_{j,j=0,1,\ldots,i}$ - Input variables or input factors

 $\beta_{j,j=0,1,\dots,i}$ - Regression coefficients or parameters, represents expected change in response variable per unit change in input variable

The main goal of regression is to construct an efficient model to predict dependent attributes from a bunch of attribute variables and linear regression is a very simple algorithm that can be implemented very easily to give satisfactory results. It has a considerably lower time complexity and the mathematical equations of linear regression are also fairly easy to understand and interpret.

3 System Description

This chapter provides a basic overview structure of hydropower system. A hydropower system is a combination of facilities and electromechanical equipment with the operation principle of converting the kinetic, potential energy of water first into mechanical energy and then electrical energy.

According to [22], there are four main types of hydropower plants:

- Run-of-river hydropower: this type uses flowing water from a river through a canal or penstock to spin a turbine, typically has no water storage facility. Since no large dam needs to be built for storage, they are quite cheaper than other types and are popular for various small-scale hydropower applications.
- Storage hydropower: as known as a large-scale system, the water is stored in a reservoir by using a dam and electricity is generated by releasing water from reservoir through turbine. This can offer capability of control over production according the demands of the system and is not depended on the inflow for long times.
- Pumped storage hydropower: is cycled between a lower and upper reservoir by pumping due to the change of electricity demands. It means that the water from the high to the low reservoir when having a high demand and when there is a low demand, the water is pumped from a lower reservoir to a higher one. The distinction is that the pumped storage systems consume the energy from the grid to lift the water up, and return most of this energy to grid later.
- Offshore hydropower: is a growing group that uses tidal currents or the power of waves to generate electricity.

The following work considers only storage hydropower type that has the typical structure shown in Figure 3.1. According to the typical structure of storage hydropower plant, the installed components begin at the dam and end at the outflow. Water is stored at the reservoir by dam, flowing through the trash rack to enter the head race tunnel/conduit via the intake gate and further to the penstock before reaching the main valve that has the function of controlling the water force going into the turbine. The turbine is connected with the generator by the shaft coupling element and the mechanical power from turbine is transferred to generator that converts mechanical power into electrical power. The amount of water flowing into the turbine is led out to the downstream through the outflow.



Figure 3.1: Typical structure of storage hydropower plant [23]

Hence, the hydropower system can be divided into two main system, hydraulic system and electrical system. In addition, the hydraulic system includes three parts, inlet system, hydropower turbine and outlet system while the electrical system consists of generator as the main components and other electrical components.

3.1 Hydraulic System

In hydraulic system, flowrate that is defined to be the volume of fluid through an area during a period of time, is an important quantity. According to [24], flowrate through pipeline can be expressed by :

$$Q = \frac{V}{t} = \frac{Ad}{t} = vA \tag{3.1}$$

Where:

- Q Volumetric flowrate $[m^3/s]$
- V Volume $[m^3]$
- A Cross-sectional area of flow $[m^2]$
- d Diameter of pipeline [m]
- v Flow velocity [m/s]

```
t - Time \left[s\right]
```

In addition, according to [25], the fluid pressure is proportional to the height of fluid and can be expressed by:

$$p = \rho g h \tag{3.2}$$

Where:

p - Pressure of fluid [Pascal]

- ρ Fluid density $[kg/m^3]$
- g Acceleration of gravity $[m/s^2]$
- h Height of the fluid [m]

Roughness Factor Water conveying represents the most important of hydropower projects, therefore factors affecting to the efficiency of water conveying are the main concern in improving the efficiency of the system. One of basic criteria to improve the efficiency of water conveying is decreasing friction loss of water flowing in tunnels or pipes that are the main components of conveying water. The friction loss depends on both cross-sectional area and roughness of tunnels or pipes. Figure 3.2 [26] shows the poor and good quality of roughness factor in the typical of water tunnel.



a. Relatively good quality tunnel contour (Upper Tamakoshi Project, Nepal)

b. Relatively poor quality tunnel contour with excessive over-break (Khimti Project, Nepal)

Figure 3.2: Good and poor roughness factor in water tunnel [26]

The flow surface of waterway system, tunnel or pipe, is typically made up for different materials as gravel, concrete, rock or steel. In addition, the pipe materials and common pipe roughness values can be illustrates in Table 3.1.

1 0	
Material	Pipe roughness values [mm]
Concrete	0.3 – 3
Cast Iron	0.26
Galvanized Iron	0.15
Asphalted Cast Iron	0.12
Commercial or Welded Steel	0.045
PVC, Glass, Other Drawn Tubing	0.0015

Table 3.1: Pipe roughness value according to pipe material [27]

According to research project about roughness value waterway tunnel [26][28], the roughness parameter of tunnel can be determined based on the material of tunnel and geographical structure of hydropower plant.

3.1.1 Inlet System

The inlet system is the important part of hydroelectric power plant that is the system of conveying water from the natural resource (river, reservoir) to the hydraulic turbines of the power plant. Reservoirs usually have a large height difference from the base of a hydroelectric power plants to take full advantage of the power of water flowing from the top.

The inlet system includes the following components: dam, reservoir, trash rack, intake gate, headrace tunnel/conduit, sand trap, surge tank, surge shaft, penstock/pressure shaft and main valve.

Dam

Dam is used to create a reservoir in order to contain the water and create a water drop that is used to produce energy. Most common dams can be made by concrete or earth. There are different type of dams, some of them are listed in following:

- Gravity dam: is a large dam and usually made from concrete, with the function of holding the large amounts of water in order to create reservoirs. To avoid suffering the failure by the vast amount of water, this type of dam must be built on solid bedrock.
- Embankment dam: is usually made by various materials such as soil, sand clay or rock. Therefore, it can be known as earth-filled or rock-filled dam.

Reservoir

A reservoir has the main function of storing water that is the main working body of the hydropower system. A reservoir can also be formed basis of a lake or a river. The water height level in the reservoir is one of the major factors in determining how much electricity can be generated from hydropower system. Since the water, held at a higher elevation, has a certain amount of potential energy that can be converted to rotational motion of turbines when the water falls.

Trash Rack

The trash rack can be installed in order to prevent trees, branches or stones from entering to the conduit system to the turbine that can cause damage to the turbine or decrease the efficiency of conveying water through the tunnel or conduit. Trash rack is usually arranged at both ends of headrace tunnel/conduit with the purpose of turbine protection. [29]

Intake Gate

A intake gate is arranged to shut off the water flowing into the tunnel or conduit system when the conduit system need to be maintenance or emptied. The intake gate is usually controlled from the gate house that is often built at reservoir area. [29]

Headrace Tunnel/Conduit

The headrace tunnel/conduit or waterway is a system with the function of transferring the water from the reservoir to the turbine that is usually installed between the reservoir and the penstock. Depending on the structure of the hydropower plant, it can be tunnel or conduit.

Sand Trap

The sand trap is a part of headrace tunnel/conduit in order to reduce the erosion processes on the mechanical components of the valves and turbine. In order to prevent bypassing of sand, the sand trap should be emptied at fixed time intervals set in accordance with the hydropower plant operation and maintenance schedule. [29][30]

Surge Tank

The water flowing through the headrace tunnel/conduit, it can accelerate or decelerate that causes pressure variations with magnitude exceeding the nominal pressure in the waterway, therefore, it leads to the load changes causing the mass oscillations. The large oscillations is the culprit called water hammer effect. The function of surge tank is reduce the water hammer pressure variations and keep the mass oscillations within acceptable limits and decrease the oscillations to stable operation as soon as possible. [29][30]

Surge Shaft

Surge shaft is a surge tank with small cross section area. It can be installed additionally to the surge tank. [30]

Penstock/Pressure Shaft

Penstock/Pressure shaft is a pipe either welded of steel plates, or made of concrete or wood. This pipe is arranged between the headrace tunnel/conduit and the main vane with the purpose of controlling the water into the turbine. The penstock can be lined and unlined, depended on the quality of the rock. If the rock quality is sufficiently high, an unlined penstock is more economical and technical suitable. [29][30]

Valve

This is a gate vane installed at the head of penstock/pressure shaft which is to control or isolate the flow of water into the penstock.

Main Valve

The main value is arranged prior to the turbine to control the flow of fluid entering the turbine It might be to prevent the damage on the turbine blades and to control fluctuating pressure entering the turbine. Therefore, to maintain the speed of the turbine constant the flow is controlled by this main value. Depending on the water head and capacity of turbine, the type of main value may be a gate, butterfly value, gate value or a spherical value.
3.1.2 Turbine System

Water turbines are used as a machine that convert directly the hydraulic power to the mechanical power on the machine shaft. According to Figure 3.3, the hydraulic power is represented by a water flow from an upper level to a lower level that the difference between the level of the upper reservoir z_{res} [m] and the level of the tail water z_{tw} [m] can be defined as the gross head [31].



Figure 3.3: Layout of illustrating the relationship between the gross head, net head and head loss [31]

The gross head H_g [m] can be calculated as:

$$H_g = z_{res} - z_{tw} \tag{3.3}$$

The net head H_n [m] can be calculated as:

$$H_n = H_g - h_f \tag{3.4}$$

Where $h_f[m]$ is the head loss due to friction.

The turbine selection is depended on the site conditions, flowrate and hydraulic head, which are suitable for different applications. Turbines are generally divided into three main groups based on operation principle; reaction, impulse and mixed flow turbines.

For these turbine types, according to [32], the available power supplied by the water at the inlet of the turbine can be expressed by:

$$P_n = \rho Q_g H_n \tag{3.5}$$

Where:

 P_n - Net power [W] ρ - Fluid density $[kg/m^3]$

- Q Water flowrate $[m^3/s]$
- $g\,$ Gravitational acceleration $[m/s^2]$

$$H_n$$
 - Net head $[m]$

According to [31], hydraulic efficiency is basically defined as the ratio of power given by water to the runner of turbine to the power supplied by the water at the inlet of the turbine and can be expressed by Equation (3.6).

$$P_r = \eta_h P_n \tag{3.6}$$

Where:

 P_n - Net power [W]

 $P_r\,$ - Power at the runner of turbine [W]

 η_h - Hydraulic efficiency

In addition, power given by water to the runner of turbine will be transmitted to the shaft of the turbine. Mechanical power available at the shaft of the turbine will be less than the power delivered to the runner of the turbine due to mechanical losses [31] and can be expressed by:

$$P_s = \eta_m P_r \tag{3.7}$$

Where:

 $P_s\,$ - Power at the shaft of turbine [W]

 $P_r\,$ - Power at the runner of turbine [W]

 η_m - Mechanical efficiency

Impulse Turbine

The working principle of impulse turbine is using the high-velocity jets of water from nozzles directed into buckets in the runners. There is only impulse forces being transferred by the direction changes of the flow velocity vectors with no pressure difference between inlet and outlet [29].

The most common of this type is Pelton turbine that is used frequently for high head hydropower systems. A Pelton turbine is preferred to be used with a low flowrate and the large height difference (300-400m). [33]

Nozzle (Needle) Valve

Nozzle (needle) valve is a type of valve that is used to perfectly control the flowrate of fluids and this valve is used commonly in impulse turbine to control the flowrate into turbine. The adjustments are gradual and smooth for controlling the flowrate, however, they can also be used as a reliable shut-off valve. In hydropower system, there are plenty of nozzles with the purpose of controlling the flowrate into turbine blades. In this way, it is possible to control the running speed of the turbine as well as help the turbine achieve a stable speed as quickly as possible. According to [34], the number of nozzle has the highest influence on the efficiency of the turbine for generating power, therefore, the number of nozzle need to be calculated and designed carefully.



Figure 3.4: Needle vane turns hydraulic head into a high velocity stream of water which hits the turbine runner and makes it spin [35]

The opening value of nozzle is usually expressed as percentage from 0% to 100% of the valve, 0% means the valve is closed with no flowrate and 100% means the valve is fully opened. These values are changed to control the running speed of turbine due to the different operating condition of the hydropower plant.

Reaction Turbine

Reaction turbines use a drop in pressure between the inlet and outlet of the runner as known as the reaction part transferring energy from the flow to the mechanical energy. When the water enters the turbine runner, a part of the available energy of water is converted into kinetic energy, and the remaining part is converted into pressure energy. Pressure varies throughout the turbine. At the entrance of the turbine, the pressure is much higher than the pressure at the exit. [29] The typical turbine in this group is Kaplan turbine, which is preferred to be used in very large flowrate and low height difference (<100 m). [36]

Mixed Flow Turbine

The mixed flow turbine design combines concepts of two different types of turbines, impulse turbine and reaction turbine. This is why the name "mixed flow turbines" is given. In this type, there are two effects cause the energy conversion. Firstly if follows the pressure difference between inlet and out of the runner as known as reaction part. Secondly changes in the directions of the velocity vectors of the flow through the canals between the runner blades transfer impulses forces. It is denoted the impulse part of the energy conversion. [29]

The typical turbine in this group is Francis turbine, which is preferred to be used in medium flowrate and medium height difference (100-300m). [33]

3.1.3 Outlet System

The outlet system can consist of tunnel or conduit or both of them which is aimed to transfer the water from the turbine to the downstream (tail water). The design of outlet system is depended on the geographical structure and the types of turbine used in the hydropower plant.

3.2 Electrical System

This section introduces main components of electrical system of typical hydropower plant such as generator and transformer.

In hydropower plant, generator converts mechanical power from the shaft of turbine into electric power. The electricity generated from hydropower plant is distributed to power grid through transmission system. The voltage drop across this transmission system is taken into account. To consider this voltage drop, per-unit system is applied.

Per-unit system In electrical power system analysis, a per-unit system is the expression of system quantities as fractions of a defined base unit quantity that is applied broadly in analyzing in the power system containing large numbers of devices [37]. The quantities of power system such as power, voltage, current, impedance and admittance is transferred to per-unit system with same symbol (pu) for convenience of calculation through Equation (3.8) [37]. These quantities are specified as multiples of the chosen base values,

different quantities have different base values. According to [37], base values in three-phase system can be expressed by Equation (3.9) and Equation (3.10).

$$Per-unit = \frac{Actual value in any unit}{Base value in the same unit}$$
(3.8)

$$S_{base} = \sqrt{3} V_{base} I_{base} \tag{3.9}$$

$$Z_{base} = \frac{V_{base}}{\sqrt{3}I_{base}} \tag{3.10}$$

Where:

 S_{base} - Base apparent power [VA]

 V_{base} - Base voltage [V]

 I_{base} - Base current [A]

 Z_{base} - Base impedance $[\Omega]$

Voltage drop Electrical power transmission can be defined as the bulk movement of electrical energy from a generating site, such as a power station or power plant, to an electrical substation where voltage is transformed and distributed to consumers or other substations [38]. The interconnected lines that enable the movement of electrical energy are known as a "transmission network" and these form an electrical power transmission system [38].

A voltage drop in a transmission line or transmission system causes a reduction in the receiving-end voltage compared to the sending-end voltage. This voltage drop is mainly influenced due to the transmission line parameters, resistance (R), inductance (L), capacitance (C), and shunt conductance (G). These parameters offer impedance to the flow of current and voltage drops throughout the length of the transmission line. There is a uniform distribution of R, L, and C throughout the length of the transmission line. The series impedance is formed by the resistance and inductance, whereas the capacitance and shunt conductance between the conductors form the shunt impedance. The influence of these line parameters on the voltage drop varies with the length of the transmission cables [39].

Transmission line modeling is crucial step towards achieving better transmission efficiency. These transmission models present an equivalent circuit of the actual transmission line that give better insight into the behavior of the transmission lines. The overhead transmission lines are modeled using the line parameters R, L, and C to analyze performance and determine voltage drop as well as transmission efficiency. The effects of line parameters on the transmission system differ with voltage grade and length of the transmission line [39].

Table 3.2 gives the typical classification of overhead transmission lines and the line parameters considered in the modeling.

Type of transmission line Length [km] Voltage range [kV] Line parameters considered in the modeling [39]
Table 3.2: Classification of transmission line and the line parameters considered in its modeling [39]
T_{2} h = 2.2. Classifier the effective sector line and the line response term are identified in its moduli $[20]$

	- 0 []		I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I
Short transmission line	$<\!\!50$	<20	R, L
Medium transmission line	50 - 150	20-100	R, L and C
Long transmission line	>150	>100	R, L and C

3.2.1 Generator

Generators is the key component of hydropower plant that convert the mechanical energy from the turbine shaft into electrical transferring to customers via the power grid. There are two common types of generator depending on required runner speed and power station characteristics; synchronous generators and asynchronous generators.

Synchronous generator excitation is independent of the grid, so synchronous generators can build up voltage without grid connection [40]. While, Asynchronous generators are unable to regulate voltage output and are mechanically driven at a speed higher than system frequency (synchronous speed); if isolated from the grid they cannot produce power because their excitation energy comes from the grid [40].

Each hydropower generator is customized for each project, to ensure enhanced performance according to site conditions and operators' needs. Under any operating condition, the generator is optimized to run smooth to reduce structural stress and improve reliability for the life time of the turbine [40].

3.2.2 Transformer

A transformer is a device that transfers electric energy from one alternating-current circuit to one or more other circuits, either increasing (stepping up) or reducing (stepping down) the voltage [42].

The transformer is categorized on the basis of a number of turns in the primary and secondary winding. The step-up transformer transforms a low voltage, high current AC into a high voltage, low current AC system. In this step-up type, the number of turns in the secondary winding is greater than the number of turns in primary winding. The



Figure 3.5: Generator unit at typical hydropower plant [41]

step-down transformer converts a high primary voltage associated with the low current in a low voltage, high current that has the number of turns in the primary winding is greater than the number of turns in secondary winding. [43]

In hydropower plant, transformer is used to step up voltage of electric generated from generator. Then, the electric is distributed by transmission system to substations where voltage of electricity can be step up or step down.

4 Grunnåi Power Plant

In this chapter, there is a description of Grunnåi hydropower plant. Grunnåi power plant is located in Seljord municipality and is part of the power production system in the Skiensvassdraget watercourse. The Grunnåi watercourse primarily runs through Seljord municipality in Telemark county. Its outlet is from the east side of the valley at Vallaråi river in Flatdal. The source of the watercourse is Slåkåvatn lake on Litfjell mountain. [44]



Figure 4.1: Screenshot of the map showing location with USN at blue point and Grunnåi power plant at red point [45]

The power plant utilizes a waterfall height of 387 meters for two Pelton turbines connected with two respective generators, turbine 1 (T1) is connected with generator 1 (G1) and

turbine 2 (T2) is connected with generator 2 (G2). G1, original generator has an installed capacity of 15.1 MW and an annual output of 55 GWh, while G2, an extra generator, has an installed capacity of 10.2 MW and an annual output of 11 GWh.

4.1 Hydraulic System

4.1.1 Geometry Data

The geometry data of this hydropower plant are provided in Table 4.1 following the waterway structure of the hydropower plant. It should be noted that the structure of the waterway is similar to that presented in Figure 4.2. With the general information shown in Table 4.1, the water from reservoir is conveyed to the power plant by the waterway system containing different geometry parts (lengths, slope, etc.) consisting of two blasted tunnels, "1" and "2" that then connected with a steel pipe conduit "3". This conduit is branched into two separated ways, "4+5" and "6+7" into two respective turbines, "T1" and "T2". Water discharged from two turbines through the respective outlet paths "8" and "9" and flows to the downstream, Vallaråi river through outlet system containing outlet tunnel "10" connected with culvert "11".



Figure 4.2: Simplified overview of the waterway in Grunnåi power plant

Table 4.1 presents the diameter values of each units in waterway of the plant. However, not all of the waterway units (e.g., Tunnel_1, Tunnel_2) are circular conduits, which means that the components representing for these unit in simulation model need to have the same cross-sectional area, the additional information can be shown in Appendix B. In addition, the parameters of turbines using in this hydropower plant can be shown in Table 4.2. These turbines are Pelton turbine and both of them have 5 nozzles.

Object elements	Index	Length [m]	Diameter[m]
Tunnel_1 (Tunnel part 1)	1	110	5.8
Tunnel_2 (Tunnel part 2)	2	1450	5.8
Conduit	3	160	1.2
IntakeT1_1 (Intake to T1 part 1)	4	25	1.2
IntakeT1_2 (Intake to T1 part 2)	5	1.5	0.8
IntakeT2_1 (Intake to T2 part 1) $($	6	20	1.2
IntakeT2_2 (Intake to T2 part 2)	7	1.5	0.6
OutletT1 (Outlet of T1)	8	1.5	3
Outlet T2 (Outlet of T2)	9	1.5	3
Tunnel_3	10	460	3
Culvert	11	58	2

Table 4.1: The waterway geometry, Grunnåi power plant

Table 4.2: Turbines nominal operational values, Grunnåi power plant, Grunnåi power plant

Object elements	Nominal head [m]	Nominal flow rate $[m^3/s]$	Nominal power[MW]
T1	385	4.42	15.00
Τ2	389	3.08	10.76

4.1.2 Measurement Data of Hydraulic System

The measurement data in Grunnåi hydropower plant has been done using the HydroCord [46] and SCADA monitoring system [47]. The measurements are taken from various sensors located at the power plant, measure quantities of each unit according to the operation of the power plant. There are about hundreds of measured quantities from monitoring systems such as turbines oil temperature, water temperature, etc.

It is noted that not all measured quantities can be used in the simulation model. Among these variables that provide the information for simulation model experiments, these quantities are filtered and then be used for model experiments with the target of optimisation and validation. Table 4.3 shows the necessary quantity names and then, based on these quantity names, the detailed measurement name of sensor can be filtered.

Table 4.3: The necessary measurement quantity name for experiments

Quantity name	Unit
Nozzle opening value	%
Water flowrate	m^3/s
Water pressure	bar
Generated power	W

According to the quantity names of model shown in Table 4.3, the measurement name of available sensors in the power plant are extracted. Table 4.4 shows the signal of sensors at measurement positions based on the element number of Figure 4.2 that match the quantity names used for the simulation model of hydraulic system.

v	1		
	Index	Measurement name	Unit
	3	Water flowrate	m^3/s
	3	Water pressure	bar
	4	Water flowrate	m^3/s
	6	Water flowrate	m^3/s
	6	Water pressure	bar
	T1	Generated power	W
	T1	5 nozzles opening value	%
	T2	Generated power	W

 Table 4.4: The name of measurements corresponding to the location of the measurement matching the name of necessary quantities

Measurement values are provided by Skagerak Kraft AS in different period of time in various operation condition of the power plant. This means that they have to be handled individually and have no cross-correlations.

Due to the tolerances of the sensors used in the system being negligibly small compared to deviations caused by model inaccuracies, the measured values from Table 4.4 are considered as accurate and valid values.

The reference technical data about flowrate and pressure sensors, which are commonly used in a typical hydropower plant, can be shown in [48][49] and according to this technical data, Table 4.5 shows the tolerances of these types of sensors.

Table 4.5: Tolerances in full scale (FS) measured range of sensors

Sensors	Tolerance
Pressure measured sensor	$\pm 0.25\%$ FS
Flowrate measured sensor	$\pm 0.5\%~\mathrm{FS}$

4.2 Electrical System

The electrical system located in Grunnåi power plant includes main components as generators and transformers. There are two generators installed in the hydropower plant, G1 and G2 with different output capacity. The capacity of G1 is 15.1 MW while the capacity of G2 is 10.2 MW. Two these generators output 6.6 kV voltage which is stepped to 22 kV through two respective transformers, transformer 1 (TX1) and transformer 2 (TX2) and then, the power will be transferred by transmission lines, L1, L2, L3 and L4 before being voltage increased by transformer 3 (TX3) and transformer 4 (TX4) in the respective lines. In practical, the load supplied by G2 is back-up by G1. The parameters of electrical units in Grunnåi hydropower plant based on Figure 4.3 can be shown in [4].



Figure 4.3: Electrical system diagram of Grunnåi Power Plant

The measurements on buses and devices at each point of time in the power transmission system are not included in this thesis since no information from Skagerak Kraft AS was available.

5 Software

Software comprise the entire set of programs, procedures, and routines that helps users to operate the computer system to execute different tasks. Modelling and simulations are mainly based on software with different programming and modelling languages. The modelling language Modelica, the programming language Python and the software Dymola are used in this thesis to model and simulate the hydropower plant. More about the Modelica, Python and Dymola with its library are given in this chapter.

5.1 Modelica

The Modelica language is a language for modelling of cyber-physical systems, supporting acausal connection of components governed by mathematical equations to facilitate large complex systems as electrical, mechanical, thermal, etc [50]. Modelica contains the open source Modelica libraries with about 1600 model components and 1350 functions from many domains. Modelica simulation environment can be available in various software such as CATIA Systems, Dymola, OpenModelica, etc. Industry is using the Modelica language and Modelica libraries for modelling and simulating, also the power plant providers, such as ABB, EDF, Siemens use Modelica to develop their products [50].

5.2 Python

Python is an interpreted, object-oriented, high-level programming language with dynamic semantics. Python supports modules and packages, which encourages program modularity and code reuse. The Python interpreter and the extensive standard library are available in source or binary form without charge for all major platforms, and can be freely distributed. [51]

5.3 Dymola

Dymola, Dynamic Modelling Laboratory, is a complex tool for modelling and simulation of integrated and complex systems for use within automotive, aerospace, robotics, process and other applications. [52]

According to [52], Dymola has the key advantages as follows:

- Compatible model libraries for multi- engineering fields enable high-fidelity modeling of complex integrated systems.
- Modelica-base software, a powerful, object-oriented and formally defined modelling language.
- User can easily build own or adapt existing components to match unique needs. Comprehensive portfolio of model libraries.
- Acausal, equation-oriented models allow a component to be used in different contexts and a model to be used for different studies.
- Relieves the user from converting equations to assignment statements or block diagrams. Simulations are more efficient and robust.
- Provide the real-time simulation on dSPACE and xPC.
- Powerful interoperability options with full FMI support and interfaces to Python, the SIMULIA tools Abaqus and iSight as well as Simulink.
- Provide real-time 3D animation and import of CAD files for visualization.

5.4 OpenHPL

OpenHPL is an open-source hydropower library that consists of hydropower unit models and is modelled using Modelica [50] and is available at [53]. This library is used to model hydropower systems of different complexity and connect them with models from other libraries, e.g., with models of the power system or other power generating sources. OpenHPL also contains examples, waterway components, electromechanical equipment, etc that can be shown in Figure 5.1. Noted that for the model of waterway of Grunnåi hydropower plant, OpenHPL version 1.5.0 is used.

~	· 😰 o	DpenHPL
	C	Copyright
	> 🔁	User's Guide
		Data
	> 🕨	Examples
	> 📰	Waterway
	> 🔯	ElectroMech
	> 🕥	Controllers
	> 🚯	Interfaces
	> [f	Functions
	> 📥	Sources
	> [i	Icons
	> [t]	Types
	> 📐	Tests

Figure 5.1: Screenshot of OpenHPL

5.5 OpenIPSL

OpenIPSL is open-instance power system library, a library of power system components models written in the Modelica language that can be used for power system dynamic analysis, such as phasor time-domain simulations [54] and is available at [55]. The purposes of OpenIPSL are to be used for research and education to provide as many as possible typical test networks for researching and teaching. The library provides examples, electrical and non-electrical components as can be shown in Figure 5.2.



Figure 5.2: Screenshot of OpenIPSL

6 Previous Work

During the fall 2021, the simulation model of Grunnåi hydropower plant was created based on OpenHPL and OpenIPSL in Dymola/Modelica according to the provided information of the power plant in Table 4.1 and Figure 4.2 [4]. There are two simulation models including hydraulic system and electrical system.



Figure 6.1: Previous work - Simulation model of hydraulic system



Figure 6.2: Previous work - Simulation model of electrical system

The information of components in simulation models was given in [4]. It is noted that

according to the objective of experiments, the name of each components in the simulation model can be changed in later experiments due to the Table 4.1.

The group decided to take experiments on entire simulation model, first was the hydraulic system model. According to provided data from previous work, there were two input variables in this experiments. First was the average of measured opening value of 5 nozzles of T1 since there is only one input signal of nozzle opening value to turbine block and second was efficiency value from T1 hydraulic efficiency curve, which was generated by peak values of 5 curves shown in Appendix D. T1 generated power was the response of experiment and experimental results was compared with the measurement data. To gain clearly understanding of this experiment, the used dataset of this experiment can be plotted in Figure 6.3. The experimental results were collected and plotted in Figure 6.4.



Figure 6.3: Measurement data used in previous work experiment

As can be seen from Figure 6.4, there is large difference between simulation and measurement results, therefore, it is necessary to verify the hydraulic system model before performing experiments on electrical system model.



Figure 6.4: Previous work - Comparison of experiment and measurement values

7 Methods

This chapter describes the ways of applying DoE method to simulation model verification and then, the plan of experiments will be conducted. Simulation components used in experiments are also introduced in this chapter.

7.1 DoE Principles

DoE has three basic principles (see Section 2.2). These principles are applied to the hydroelectric plant model verification.

7.1.1 Blocking

The blocking principle is an important method in verifying the hydroelectric power plant model, which is the main goal of the thesis. Therefore, using this approach to the model is the priority work. Blocking is to separate the entire experimental model into groups or blocks for the purpose of verifying each individual. Due to this principle, the model will be divided into main parts that will be verified individually corresponding to associated experiments. During the verification process, the design of each of these parts is optimized with the target of achieving simulation results that are closest to the reference values.

According to the structure of hydropower plant, there are two main systems, hydraulic system and electrical system. In hydraulic system, blocking principle divides the simulation model to three main parts, inlet part, turbines part and the outlet part. Within these main sections, it is possible to divide into other sub-sections whose main purpose is to verify each element in the hydraulic system model.

7.1.2 Replication

With the hydropower plant model experiments, this principle is applied to iteratively the divided parts according to the blocking principle under different operating scenarios of the hydropower plant, to gain the experimental error estimation as well as confirm to give the final conclusion of experiments.

This principle is used when there is a large amount of data available for experiments. For experiments on the simulation models, this method is mainly to confirm the experimental results according to available data from measurement in Table 4.4.

7.1.3 Randomization

The principle, randomization, is applied for hydroelectric plant simulation model for the purpose of model optimization in a situation where it is difficult to select suitable design elements or suitable parameters for components in simulation model. In case that the using simulation library has many elements, randomly use the elements in this library and perform experiments to get the suitable choice so that the results come out as accurate as possible. Similar with case of no information about parameters in components, the parameters for these components are selected randomly.

7.2 Uncontrollable factor

In the simulation model of hydropower plant built by OpenHPL, the required parameters for settings of each units in the model can be found in [4]. These parameters are mostly based on the provided geometry data such as length, slope, etc. However, the uncertain parameter is a parameter with no information as roughness factor of tunnels or conduits in hydraulic system of hydropower plant. That is the uncontrollable variable of the model which is difficult to measure and improve. This factor influences will be focused so the elements containing this parameter are experimented in order to identify its impacts to the experimental results.

7.3 Sequence of Experiments

The verification experiments of hydropower plant model have sequence and cause-andeffect relationship. This means that the results of the previous group of model will directly affect the next group of models. Therefore, setting up the experimental sequence plays an important role in the verification of entire simulation model.

There are two simulation models corresponding with two systems of hydropower plant, hydraulic system model and electrical system model as initial creation from previous work that can be shown in Figure 6.1 and Figure 6.2. Since the electrical system includes the generator units connected with turbine by a shaft that utilizes the generated power of hydraulic turbines to convert into electricity, hence, the hydraulic system model needs to be verified firstly according to the influence of hydraulic system to electrical system.

7.3.1 Planning Experiments of Hydraulic System Model

The hydraulic system includes three main system, inlet system, turbine system and outlet system (see Section 3.1). Based on this structure, the model can be divided into three parts. In addition, in order to have a suitable experimental sequence, it is necessary to consider the relationships between the main parts of the model. According to Equation (3.5) and Equation (3.6), the relationship between inlet system and turbines system can be illustrated. The generated power at the runner of turbines depends on the value of the flowrate into turbines. Therefore, the first performed verification experiments will be conducted on the inlet section to ensure the accuracy of the flowrate into turbines and the parameter settings of the elements in the inlet system. Secondly, the verification of experiments will be conducted at the next part, turbines section and finally is the outlet system. The planned sequence of experiment can be illustrated in Figure 7.1.



Figure 7.1: Planned sequence of experiments of hydraulic system model

It is noted that Figure 7.1 shows sequence of experiments on each parts of hydraulic system only, so the number of experiments and name of experiments can be optionally changed to accomplish the planned objectives.

Inlet system experiments

The inlet system of the hydraulic model is from the reservoir to conduits into turbines (elements number 1 to 7 due to Table 4.1). However, the waterway from reservoir flowing into the power house is separated into two different ways. Therefore, based on the available data from Table 4.4, it can be divided into two groups:

• Group 1: the elements from reservoir to branch (Element number 1 to 3 in Table 4.1, Tunnel_1, Tunnel_2 and Conduit).

• Group 2: the elements from branch to the conduits into turbines (Element number 4 to 7 in Table 4.1, IntakeT1_1, IntakeT1_2, IntakeT2_1 and IntakeT2_2).

The elements of these two groups are continuously connected to each other, so elements of group 1 in inlet system model is verified first. After verifying, the elements of group 1 model will be used to verify the elements of group 2. These experiments will focus to verify and optimize the inlet system model as well as the influence of uncontrollable factor to the model.

Turbine system experiments

The model of inlet system was verified, therefore the inlet system model will be hold for the next experiments of turbine system model. The turbine parameters in model are set based on the provided information due to Table 4.2. Therefore, there are two factors that need to be verified as hydraulic efficiency and nozzle vane opening value. The turbine experiments will focus to these factors.

Outlet system experiments

The experiments is to verify the elements in outlet system and examine the effectiveness of the drainage system. The elements of this model is elements from number 8 to 11 in Table 4.1, OutletT1, OutletT2, Tunnel_3 and Culvert.

7.3.2 Planning Experiments of Electrical System Model

The electrical system of Grunnåi power plant consists of two branches of G1 and G2 that are independent with each other and have the same structure. It is, therefore, sufficient to conduct experiments on one branch to verify the simulation model of the power system. The challenge is no available measurement data for the verification experiments. Therefore, instead of using measurements, the calculation based on power system analysis theory will be performed and the results of calculation is compared with the simulation results.

In electrical system, generator is connected turbine by a shaft and converts the mechanical power to electric power. However, since the lack of measurement data in electrical system, the experiments on this system are mainly focus to simulation elements in this system. In the experiment, the voltage drop across transmission system is considered. An experiment can be setup by changing the load values and with the available parameters on transmission systems, the voltage drop can be calculated. This calculation results will be compared with experimental results.

7.4 Components for Experiments

Simulation model experiments are conducted totally in Dymola/Modelica, therefore, getting clearly understanding about Modelica simulation is important. In addition, to setup experiments for simulation model, there are several new block components built based on Dymola/Modelica.

7.4.1 Flowrate Sensor Block

In this work, a flowrate sensor block is built with the purpose of measuring the flowrate into the turbine and outputting a numerical value. Figure 7.2 shows the symbol of flowrate sensor block used in experiments.



Figure 7.2: Symbol of flowrate sensor block

This block is based on Equation (7.1). It has two inputs and one output. Two inputs are for connecting to water pipes or direct connection to turbine block. Output is the numerical value of flowrate passing through this block. In simulation experiments, this sensor block will automatically output the value of flowrate into turbine through the output port, and this value is used to find the corresponding hydraulic efficiency value. It is noted that the inputs of this block have two ports named i and o, so the positions of two ports must be placed in the correct position corresponding to the direction of the flow from i to o in order to get the correct output value.

$$Q_i = Q_o \tag{7.1}$$

Where:

 Q_i - Inlet flow rate $[m^3/s]$ Q_o - Outlet flow rate $[m^3/s]$

7.4.2 Hydraulic Efficiency Block

The hydraulic efficiency block is created and applied in experiments. This block is created by available mathematical domain in Dymola. Based on the manufacture's information as shown in Appendix D with T1 and T2 hydraulic efficiency curves, the hydraulic efficiency value can be gained due to flowrate into turbine. However, instead of only one efficiency curve for turbine, there are several efficiency curves in different operating state.



Figure 7.3: Symbol of T1 and T2 hydraulic efficiency block

These blocks have one input and one output. The input is the value of flowrate into turbine that is taken from flowrate sensor block and the output is the corresponding efficiency value according to efficiency curves.

Internal part of T1 hydraulic efficiency block contains five tables corresponding to five efficiency curves and T2 hydraulic efficiency block consists of one table as one efficiency curve. The hydraulic efficiency curves retrieved from these blocks can be shown in Appendix D. In experiments, the input of this block is the output signal from flowrate sensor block.



Figure 7.4: (a), (b) Internal part of T1, T2 hydraulic efficiency block, respectively

7.4.3 Nozzle Opening Block

This is a block built to calculate the value of nozzle opening value into turbine based on generated power of turbine. Inside this block, there is the connected mathematical blocks showing the relationship between the input and output. The nozzle opening block of T1 is named 'Uv_T1' and for T2 is 'Uv_T2'. Internal part of these blocks can be shown in Figure 7.6.



Figure 7.5: Symbol of nozzle opening block



Figure 7.6: Internal part of nozzle opening block

7.4.4 Volume Flow Source Block

Performing experiments on each portion of the simulation model, it requires a component representing the connection point between the parts of the model. In experiments, this block is used to replace the point of branching or turbines.

This block has one output that is the water flowrate, used to connect the other hydraulic components. The value of water flowrate will be setup in the setting box of this block if the value is constant as can see in Figure 7.7. In the situation of the varied value of flowrate, the box named 'useInput' will be ticked to use the signal of varied value.

	General Add modifiers Attributes	
	Component	Icon
	Name volumeFlowSource	
	Comment	VolumeF
	Model	► € °
	Path OpenHPL.Waterway.VolumeFlowSource	
	Comment Volume flow source (either fixed or variable)	
	Parameters	
	useInput	v is determined by the input connector.
	Vdot_01 M m³/s Fixed outlet flow	
volumeFlowSource		
z≈ °		
~		OK Cancel Info
(a)	(b)	

Figure 7.7: (a), (b) Symbol and setting window of volume flow source block, respectively

7.4.5 Turbine Block

Turbine block used in experiment is inherited from turbine version of OpenHPL. This new version turbine has one change comparing with the initial version. The hydraulic efficiency, instead of placing in the setting box, it will be placed as the input terminal since there are several hydraulic efficiency curves instead of one curve in the initial version. Therefore, this turbine block will have one more input port as the initial version as shown in Figure 7.8 comparing with Figure 7.9. This change helps turbine block use different efficiency curves in the different operating condition.



Figure 7.8: (a), (b) Symbol and internal part of new version turbine block with new efficiency port framed in red, respectively

							Ic	on
Name turbin	e							
Comment								
comment								Tur.!.
odel								↓
Path OpenH	IPL.ElectroMech.	Furbines	Turbine					lurbine
Comment Simple	turbine model v	vith med	hanical connectors	5				
minal turbine pa	rameters							
			If checked the g	uide vane capacity C_v	should be specified, otherwise spe	cify the nominal	turbine paramete	rs (net
valveCapacity	•		head and flow r	ate)				
C_v	3.7 •		Guide vane 'valv	ve capacity'				
H_n	460	m	Nominal net hea	ad				
Vdot_n	23.4 1	m3/c	Nominal flow, rat					
_			Norminal How Fa	te				
u_n	0.95	1	Nominal guide v	ite vane opening				
u_n ficiency data	0.95	1	Nominal guide v	rane opening				
iciency data	0.95	1	Nominal guide v	ite /ane opening •	If checked the constant efficien table for efficiency	cy eta_h is used,	, otherwise specif	y lookup
u_n fficiency data ConstEfficiency eta_h	0.95	1	Nominal guide v	te vane opening 0.9 ► 1	If checked the constant efficien table for efficiency Turbine hydraulic efficiency	cy eta_h is used,	, otherwise specif	y lookup
u_n fficiency data ConstEfficiency eta_h lookup_table	0.95)	1	Nominal guide v	te rane opening 0.9 • 1 5; 1.0, 0.93] 🔳 •	If checked the constant efficien table for efficiency Turbine hydraulic efficiency Look-up table for the turbine ef where the first column is a pu value of	cy eta_h is used, ficiency, describ value of the guid the turbine effic	, otherwise specif ed by a table mat ie vane opening, a iency.	y lookup rix, and the
ficiency data ficiency data ConstEfficiency eta_h lookup_table echanical	0.95	1	Nominal guide v	te rane opening 0.9 ▶ 1 5; 1.0, 0.93] 王王 ▶	If checked the constant efficien table for efficiency Turbine hydraulic efficiency Look-up table for the turbine ef where the first column is a pu second column is a pu value of	cy eta_h is used, ficiency, describ value of the guid the turbine effic	, otherwise specif ed by a table mat e vane opening, a iency.	y lookup rix, and the
riciency data	0.95)	1	.5, 0.9; 0.95, 0.95	te rane opening 0.9 > 1 5; 1.0, 0.93] EE > If checked, calcula	If checked the constant efficien table for efficiency Turbine hydraulic efficiency Look-up table for the turbine ef where the first column is a pu second column is a pu value of the inertia from a given H value	cy eta_h is used, ficiency, describu ralue of the guid the turbine effic	, otherwise specif ed by a table mat e vane opening, a iency.	y lookup rix, and the
rficiency data	0.95)	1	.5, 0.9; 0.95, 0.95	te rane opening 0.9 1 5; 1.0, 0.93] EE 1 If checked, calcula Maximum rated p	If checked the constant efficient table for efficiency Look-up table for the turbine are where the first column is a pu second column is a pu value of ate the inertia from a given H value over (for torque limiting and H calco	cy eta_h is used, ficiency, describ value of the guid the turbine effic ulation)	, otherwise specif ed by a table mat e vane opening, a iency.	y lookup rix, and the

Figure 7.9: Hydraulic efficiency in window settings framed in red of original turbine block of OpenHPL

7.5 Linear Regression

Linear regression shows the relationship of response based on several variables (see Section 2.5.1). Python is very useful to implement linear regression. There is a widely used package in Python library is scikit-learn [56] that is used to implement regression, classify, cluster or more. This is the open-source package. There are four basis steps to implement linear regression using this package [57]:

- Step 1: Import the packages.
- Step 2: Provide data to work.
- Step 3: Create a regression model and fit it with existing data.
- Step 4: Check the results of model fitting to know whether the model is satisfactory.

The data to create linear regression model in this package comes from the simulation results from the hydropower plant model. Based on these results, the equation of linear regression model can be created. The parameters of the equation are used to build nozzle opening block.

7.6 Data Acquisition and Preparation

In chapter 6, previous work is used detailed and clean dataset provided from Skagerak Kraft AS company. However, with new data provided, it is necessary to gain data processing and cleaning before experiments implementation.

7.6.1 Data Format

The provided data is in CSV (comma-Separated Values) format, a typical file format used to store measurement values from sensors. CSV files is a plain text file that consists of a list of data, which allows for exchange or transport of data between different programs.

Grunnåi hydroelectric power plant uses two main data sources from monitoring systems, HydroCord and SCADA. The measurement values of sensors are transported and stored in both these data sources. In the CSV files, the data is divided into six separated columns, "unitName", "measurementName", "datasource", "engineeringUnit", "timestamp" and "value". The column "unitName" illustrates the components in hydropower plant such as turbines, generators, etc. while the column "measurementName" contains the name of the measured quantities such as flowrate, active power, etc. There are about hundreds of measured quantities in this column. Each of these quantities has a different recorded time such as active power has every 4 sec recorded time or 5 sec for flowrate, and the output time is recorded in the column "timestamp". The column "timestamp" is in ISO 8601 format, an international standard data and time [58].

7.6.2 Data Processing

This work is processing data from provided measurement data from Skagerak company. CSV files supports transporting and storing data, but are not visualized and difficult to work with data. Thus, Pandas package [59] in Python is applied, which provides fast, flexible way to analyze data. It is a powerful tool to explore dataset including CSV files. Pandas will extract the data from that CSV files into a DataFrame – a table and retrieving data becomes simpler based on the commands available in Python.

The procedure for formatting and processing data from CSV files can be describes in four steps where the original data is implemented into Python for analysis until the complete dataset with necessary data for experiments.

- Step 1: Using Pandas package in Python to import CSV files. Data, currently, can be read directly in Python commands.
- Step 2: The column 'timestamp' of CSV files needs to convert format from ISO 8601, which is not supported by Python, to another format. Using localize function provided by Python library that is useful to treat particular time zone format.
- Step 3: Filter the needed data for the experiments. These data is estimated in minutes instead of seconds like CSV files. Data in minutes is output based on the average value obtained for one minute.
- Step 4: The data required for experiments after filtering are stored in a new database and exported by pandas package to new CSV dataset applying for experiments.

This procedure supports visualizing and analyzing easily millions data points for model experiments.

It is noted that because of different recorded time of each quantities, in a specified period of time, there appears NaN values (missing values) from other signals that leads to data cleaning requirement and these NaN values have to be dropped.

7.7 DoE Steps

7.7.1 Selection of Experimental Design

This stage is step 5 in DoE steps as mentioned in Section 2.4.5 that is used to select suitable experimental design for experiments. This step is extremely helpful for real-world

experiments in case of having large amount of variables with different levels. The right selection of experimental design can help perform experiment more simple and avoid wasting time and experiment materials since the number of experiment runs can be calculated based on objectives, process variables with their levels and responses of the experiment.

For experiments on simulation model, the process variables are changed over simulation time. This means that the variables have different levels corresponding with the point of simulation time. Therefore, the experimental design is applied for entire experiments on hydropower plant model that is OFAT and this step is not mentioned in these experiments.

7.7.2 Interpreting Experimental Results

As the step 7, interpreting experimental results, in DoE steps (see Section 2.4.7), some techniques are used to express the experimental results. There are two techniques used, graphical representation and mean absolute percent error calculation.

Graphical Representation

In experiments, the results from the experiments are plotted and compared with the corresponding measurement data to examine the difference of two values based on these graphs. There are many types of comparison graphs, such as column, bar, pie or line. However, the measurement data used as inputs and outputs of hydropower plant simulation model shown in Table 4.4 are variables that change over time, thus, line graph is suitable option which can reveal trends or process over time.

Mean Absolute Percentage Error (MAPE)

Mean Absolute Percentage Error (MAPE) is the mean or average of the absolute percent error. MAPE is used to know how accurate a model is. This method defines the accuracy as a percentage, and the lower MAPE means that the experimental results is closer to the reference value or has the lower difference. According to [60], the interpretation of MAPE is defined as:

$$MAPE = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{t=1}^{n} \left| \frac{A_t - F_t}{A_t} \right|$$
(7.2)

Where:

n - Number of fitted points

- A_t Actual/Measurement value
- F_t Experiment/Simulation value

 $t\,$ - Point number

With a large amount of simulation results and measurement data, Python is applied to the MAPE calculation. Experimental results are imported to Python and then, using Python commands to calculate quickly the MAPE value.

7.7.3 Evaluation Recognition

Using MAPE to compare simulation results with measurement data, a MAPE less than 5% is considered as an indication that the simulation result is acceptably accurate [61]. Therefore, in some experiments, the acceptance evaluation criteria is difference between experimental and actual values lower than 5%.
8 Experiments

These set of experiments are performed as the objective of the thesis that is verification and optimization of the simulation model. The sequence of experiments is performed with the first performed experiments of hydraulic system including inlet system, turbine system and outlet system that can be shown in Figure 8.1 and lastly is electrical system.



Figure 8.1: Hydraulic system model with three main parts

8.1 Inlet System Experiments

In the inlet system model experiments, there are experiments on two groups, group 1 and group 2 (see Section 7.3.1).

- Group 1: the elements from reservoir to branch (Element number 1 to 3 in Table 4.1, Tunnel_1, Tunnel_2 and Conduit)
- Group 2: the elements from branch to the conduits into turbines (Element number 4 to 7 in Table 4.1, IntakeT1_1, IntakeT1_2, IntakeT2_1 and IntakeT2_2)

8.1.1 Group 1 Experiments

Experiment 1 - Verify group 1 elements

Objectives recognition The objective of experiment is to verify the group 1 elements, Tunnel_1, Tunnel_2 and Conduit, in inlet system model.

Selection of response The response of interest for the experiment is the water pressure at Conduit element.

Selection of process variables The variable of this experiment is the measurement values of flowrate at Conduit element.

Evaluation criteria recognition The evaluation criteria of this experiment can be done by the comparison of experimental results and measurement data. Two results are plotted and MAPE is calculated. Similar graphics visualization of two results and MAPE < 5% are accepted.

Performing the experiment The simulation model of this experiment that is elements of group 1, is set up as Figure 8.2. The parameters of these elements are according to the geometry data of the inlet system, element number 1 to 3 as shown in Table 4.1, Tunnel_1, Tunnel_2 and Conduit. Block named "Data" contains the measurement values of pressure and flowrate at Conduit element. The input of block "Volume flow source" named "Branch" is measurement data of flowrate at Conduit element.

The roughness factor of Tunnel_1, Tunnel_2 and Conduit components in this simulation model will set up at zero because of unknown influence of this factor to the entire system and that will be examined in later experiment.

This part of hydraulic system model in previous work is also taken to experiment to consider the accuracy of this part.

Interpreting experimental results The experimental results are collected and plotted in Figure 8.3.

The MAPE of this experiment can be resulted in Table 8.1.



Figure 8.2: Simulation model of experiment 1

Table 8.1: MAPE of experiment 1		
Previous work Experiment 1		
0.8%	0.5%	

Conclusions and recommendations Figure 8.3 illustrates no large difference between the experimental results and the measurement values. However, with the zoom in observation, there are difference between these results due to the variation of flowrate values.

Generally, the results from experiment 1 and model from previous work have difference comparing with measurement values. Experiment 1 results show less difference than results from model in previous work. Furthermore, MAPE of experiment 1 is lower than previous work model with MAPE 0.5% that demonstrates the less discrepancy between the experimental and measurement values.

The experiment of elements in group 1 model shows that there is almost no error compared to the measured value. Therefore, these elements can be used for later experiments.

Confirmation run To verify again the group 1 elements in inlet system model, the confirmation run can be applied. Using another provided dataset, the confirmation run results can be shown in Figure 8.4. MAPE of this confirmation run is illustrated by Table 8.2.

Through confirmation run, group 1 elements in inlet system model are validated and can be used for later experiments.



Figure 8.3: Experiment 1 - Comparison of experiment and measurement values

able 8.2: MAPE of co	onfirmation	run of exper	riment
Experiment	t 1 Prev	ious work	
0.07%	1	1.31%	

1

Тε



Figure 8.4: Experiment 1 - Confirmation run

Experiment 2 - Roughness factor consideration

Objectives recognition The objective of experiment is to verify the roughness parameter of tunnel and conduit elements and identify its influence to the simulation model.

Description The first experiment on group 1 elements is set up with the roughness parameter of these elements at zero. In reality, the tunnel and conduit always have roughness factor. This experiment is to find the suitable roughness parameter of components in the simulation model and figure out its influence on the experimental response. Furthermore, the roughness factor may be culprit causing the difference between results of experiment 1 and previous work. Therefore, the roughness factor of element units in previous work is taken into this experiment.

The roughness factor of pipe can be determined by the material of pipe. From provided information, the material of pipe in the power plant is steel, therefore, the roughness parameter of pipe unit (Conduit) in the simulation model will be setup at 0.045mm according to Table 3.1. The unknown parameter needed to be determined is roughness factor of tunnel units (Tunnel_1, Tunnel_2) in the model and that is the objective of this experiment.

Selection of response The response of interest for the experiment is the water pressure at Conduit element (same as experiment 1).

Selection of process variables There are two variables in this experiment:

- The values of flowrate at Conduit element (same as experiment 1)
- The values of roughness parameter of tunnel units. The roughness parameter has three levels, low, medium and high with high level is the roughness factor of tunnel units in previous work. Table 8.3 shows the value corresponding to each level.

Table 8.3: Tunnel roughness parameter of each level			
Process parameter Low level Medium level High level			
Tunnel roughness parameter	$0.1\mathrm{m}$	$0.2\mathrm{m}$	$0.3\mathrm{m}$

Evaluation criteria recognition The evaluation criteria of this experiment is to determine the roughness parameter of tunnel that makes the experimental results have the lowest MAPE. The graph of experiment results can be plotted to observe the difference between levels of parameter.

Performing the experiment The simulation model used for this experiment is same as experiment 1 in Figure 8.2. The roughness parameter of Conduit element is setup according to Table 3.1 with the value, 0.045mm and the roughness parameter of tunnel units is changed according to the levels in Table 8.3. In this experiment, there are two elements containing this parameter that is Tunnel_1 and Tunnel_2.

Interpreting experimental results The experimental results are collected and plotted in Figure 8.5.



Figure 8.5: Experiment 2 - Comparison of experiment and measurement values

The MAPE of this experiment can be resulted in Table 8.4.

Table 8.4: MAPE of experiment 2			
Experiment 1 Low level Medium level High level			
0.5%	0.5%	0.5%	0.5%

Conclusions and recommendations From Figure 8.5, there is no difference between three level of roughness parameter comparing with the experiment 1 results. According to

Table 8.4 with the same MAPE in each level, it can be concluded that there is no difference between the values corresponding to the change of levels in roughness parameter of tunnel and demonstrates that the roughness parameter of tunnel has no influence to the results of the simulation model and therefore, this factor is not cause of difference between experiment model and previous work model. The experiment model will be hold for next experiments since better simulation results comparing with results from previous work model through experiment 1.

However, in order to simulate properly under practical condition, the roughness parameter of tunnel units in the model will be hold in high level at the value, 0.3m and the pipe units will be hold as 0.045 mm in later experiments.

8.1.2 Group 2 Experiments

The group 1 elements in inlet system model was verified, therefore this model will be used for experiments on group 2 elements. Figure 8.6 shows the verified elements of group 1 and elements of group 2 need to be verified in inlet system model.



Figure 8.6: Group 1 and group 2 elements in model of inlet system

Experiment 3 - Optimal design of branching part

Objectives recognition The objective of experiment is to determine the optimal design of branching part in inlet system.

Description The elements of group 2 are set up corresponding to the geography parameters in Table 4.1. According to Figure 8.6, it requires the connection between the group 1 and group 2 in the model and illustrates the branching point of two separate waterway flowing into T1 and T2. There are three different branching designs in simulation model to connect the elements between group 1 and group 2:

- Design 1: Using connection same as hydraulic system model of previous work (see Chapter 6).
- Design 2: Using "Fitting" component.
- Design 3: Using "bendPipe" component.

Selection of response The response of interest for the experiment is the water pressure at T2 inlet or IntakeT2_1 element from simulation model.

Selection of process variables There are two variables in this experiment:

- The measurement values of flowrate at IntakeT2_1.
- Three designs of branching part.

Evaluation criteria recognition The evaluation criteria of this experiment is to determine the best design that makes the simulation results have the lowest difference comparing with measured values or lowest MAPE. The graph of experimental results can be plotted to observe the difference between three designs.

Performing the experiment The experiment of design 3 is implemented as Figure 8.7 and another designs, design 1 and design 2 will be implemented similarly. The blocks named "T1" and "T2" are "Volume flow source" block which are used to represent turbines without using turbine models in the experiment since these models have not been verified.

In design 2, the parameter of component "Fitting" representing for the branching point is setup according to the diameter of "Conduit" and "IntakeT1_1" that have the same diameter. In design 3, the parameter of component "bendPipe" is setup according to the diameter of "Conduit" and "IntakeT1_1" and the loss coefficient parameter is set as default, 0.5.



Figure 8.7: Simulation model of design 3 in experiment 3



Figure 8.8: Experiment 3 - Comparison of experiment and measurement values

Interpreting experimental results The experimental results are collected and plotted in Figure 8.8.

MAPE of this experiment can be resulted in Table 8.5.

Table 8.5: MAPE of experiment 3		
Design 1 Design 2 Design 3		
1.82%	0.74%	0.72%

Conclusions and recommendations According to Figure 8.8, from 1000 minutes onwards, comparing with the measurement data, design 1 experimental results shows the most difference in three designs while the design 2 and design 3 give the nearly similar results.

According to Table 8.5, it can be concluded that the design 1 with using basic connection gives the most difference while the design 3 gives the lowest difference comparing with the measurement values. However, the loss coefficient parameter of component "bendPipe" in design 3 is setup as default. This parameter can be experimental to give the better results.

Experiment 4 - Loss coefficient parameter of "bendPipe" component

Objectives recognition The objective of experiment is to determine the optimal loss coefficient parameter of "bendPipe" component.

Description The loss coefficient parameter of "bendPipe" component of design 3 in experiment 3 is setup according to guess or manufacture's design. Because of no information in this component, this parameter will be chosen randomly as being suitable for the simulation model with the purpose of obtaining the best simulation results.

Selection of response The response of interest for the experiment is the water pressure at T2 inlet or IntakeT2_1 element from simulation model. (same as experiment 3)

Selection of process variables There are two variables in this experiment:

- The value of flowrate at IntakeT2_1 (same as experiment 3)
- Three levels of loss coefficient parameter of "bendPipe" component of design 3 as shown in Table 8.6.

Table 8.6: Loss coefficient parameter of "bendPipe" component			
Process parameter Low level (Default) Medium level High level			
Loss coefficient parameter0.5510			

Evaluation criteria recognition The evaluation criteria of this experiment is to determine the best parameter value that makes the simulation results have the lowest difference comparing with measured value or lowest MAPE. The graph of experimental results can be plotted to observe the difference between three levels.

Performing the experiment The experiment is implemented according to Figure 8.7. The loss coefficient parameter of "bendPipe" component will be changed corresponding to each level of each experiment.

Interpreting experimental results The experimental results are collected and plotted in Figure 8.9.

MAPE of this experiment can be resulted in Table 8.7.



Figure 8.9: Experiment 4 - Comparison of experiment and measurement values

Table 8.7: MAPE of experiment 4			
Low level Medium level High level			
0.72%	0.49%	0.25%	

Conclusions and recommendations According to Figure 8.9, from 1000 minutes onwards, the experimental results of high level results shows the most accurate in three levels.

According to Table 8.7, it can be concluded that the loss coefficient parameter of "bend-Pipe" as 10, gives the simulation results the lowest difference comparing with measurement values.

Confirmation run To confirm the optimal design of branching part as component "bend-Pipe" with its loss coefficient parameter as 10, another available dataset is used in confirmation run. The experimental results of confirmation run are collected and plotted in Figure 8.10. Furthermore, MAPE of confirmation run can be resulted in Table 8.8.

MAPE of tuned "bendPipe" component of confirmation run is also low demonstrating the best optimal design of branching part for inlet system model.



Figure 8.10: Experiment 4 - Confirmation run

Therefore, through experiments of elements of group 1 and group 2, the inlet system of the hydraulic system simulation model are optimized and verified. This inlet system model can be used for later experiments.

8.2 Turbine System Experiments

The set of experiments on turbine system will be performed as Figure 7.1 since the inlet system model was verified. Figure 8.11 illustrates three main parts of hydraulic system simulation, from left to right, verified inlet system, verifying turbine system and not verified outlet system.



Figure 8.11: Three main parts of hydraulic system model

8.2.1 Experiment 5 - Influence of hydraulic efficiency curves

Objectives recognition The objective of experiment is to consider the influence of hydraulic efficiency curves on generated power of turbine.

Description According to Equation (3.5) and Equation (3.6), generated power of turbine is proportional to hydraulic efficiency and in previous work, original turbine block in OpenHPL only uses with one efficiency curve as input setting. However, as provided by the manufacturer in Appendix D, T1 has five efficiency curves corresponding to flowrate into turbine. This experiment examines how the hydraulic efficiency value from these efficiency curves affect T1 generated power from start-up to steady-state period.

Selection of response The response of interest for the experiment is the generated power of T1.

Selection of process variables There are two variables in this experiment:

- Hydraulic efficiency from five curves of T1
- T1 average of measured opening value of five nozzles in percentage

Evaluation criteria recognition The evaluation criteria of this experiment can be done by the comparison of experimental results and measurement data. Two results are plotted and MAPE is calculated. Similar graphics visualization of two results and MAPE < 5% are accepted. In addition, the previous experimental results (see Chapter 6) will be included to examine the influence of hydraulic efficiency curves.

Performing the experiment The experiment is implemented as Figure 8.12. The turbine block, flowrate sensor block and hydraulic efficiency block (see Section 7.4.5, 7.4.1 and 7.4.2) are used in this experiment. T2 is forced not to run in this experiment since the objective is to focus only T1.

However, to let the simulation run, it requires an outlet system connected with turbine system. Since the outlet system is not verified, therefore, the simple outlet system is used in this experiment. The simple outlet system consists of OutletT1, OutletT2 same as actual outlet system and new component named "Tailrace" that has the diameter same as Tunnel_3 and the length is the total length of Tunnel_3 and Culvert. The roughness parameter of this "Tailrace" component is set as 0.3. In addition, "bendPipe" component with the loss coefficient as 10 which is the optimal component for branching part shown in experiment 4, will be used in this simple outlet system.



Figure 8.12: Simulation model of experiment 5

Interpreting experimental results The experimental results are collected and plotted in Figure 8.13.

MAPE of this experiment can be resulted in Table 8.9.



Figure 8.13: Experiment 5 - Comparison of experiment and measurement values

Table 8.9: MAPE of experiment 5		
Previous work Experiment 5		
11.38%	10.50%	

Conclusions and recommendations According to Figure 8.13, there is large difference between experimental results and measurement values. Comparing experimental results with measurement data, the experiment 5 results show more improvement of T1 generated power than previous work results as illustrated by Table 8.9. However, MAPE of this experiment is large (>5%) that means the large difference between experiment and measured values. Therefore, these difference cannot be accepted.

Through this experiment, it illustrates that the hydraulic efficiency curves do not have large influence to generated power of turbine. However, the hydraulic efficiency curves in experiment 5 shows the improvement of experimental results comparing with previous work results. Hence, these efficiency curves will be applied in later experiments.

8.2.2 Experiment 6 - Mathematical model

Objectives recognition The objective of experiment is to determine the mathematical model showing the relationship between generated power of turbine and nozzle opening value.

Description Experiment 5 showed that there is no large influence from the hydraulic efficiency curves to generated power of turbine. The previous work and experiment 5 used the average of measured opening value of 5 nozzles for the turbine system model to satisfy the turbine block in OpenHPL with one input nozzle opening value signal. However, through two experiments, the difference between experimental results and measurement values is still large. That illustrates the way of applying average of measured opening of 5 nozzles not accurate. The measurement data of opening values of 5 nozzles are only available in dataset used in previous work and experiment 5 and are not available in another dataset. Therefore, this experiment is necessary to determine the relationship of generated power of turbine and nozzle opening value via the mathematical equation.

Selection of response The response of this experiment is the nozzle opening value of turbine blocks, T1 and T2. .

Selection of process variables The variables of interest for the experiment is the generated power of T1 and T2.

Evaluation criteria recognition The evaluation criteria recognition is the accuracy of equation representing the relationship between the response and variable. The accuracy of the mathematical model can be expressed through MAPE with MAPE <5% accepted.

Performing the experiment The experiment is implemented as Figure 8.14

The hydraulic efficiency curve blocks and flowrate sensor block are used in this experiment. Block named "Logdata" contains the nozzle opening values that change from 0% to 100%. The simulation model is performed and the simulation results are collected. The simulation results can be plotted in Figure 8.15.

The next step is to build the mathematical model with the response as nozzle opening values and variable as generated power of turbine.

The collected simulation results are imported into Python using Pandas library. In Python environment, these data is splitted into random train and test subset with ratio 70:30. In this case, train and test subset include both response and variable values of simulation



Figure 8.14: Simulation model for experiment 6



Figure 8.15: Experiment 6 - Collected results from simulation model

results. However, train subset only consist of 70% and test subset contains 30% amount of collected simulation results.

The train subset is used to build mathematical model between its response and variable

by using linear regression command of scikit-learn package (see Section 7.5). Test subset is used to examine the accuracy of the built mathematical model. The variable of test subset are used in mathematical model to calculate the response. This response from mathematical model is called calculated response. And these values are compared with the response in test subset as known as actual response.

Interpreting experimental results The mathematical model represents the relationship between generated power and nozzle opening value depending on Equation (2.3), that can be illustrated after performing the experiment as following:

T1 mathematical model:

$$y = -0.0036 + 5.54 \times 10^{-8} x \tag{8.1}$$

T2 mathematical model:

$$y = -0.0049 + 9.48 \times 10^{-8} x \tag{8.2}$$

Where:

x - Generated power of turbine [W]

y - Nozzle opening value [%]

By splitting into two subsets, the actual response is the nozzle opening values in test subset and calculated response is the nozzle opening values gained from mathematical models based on generated power of turbines from test subset.

The actual response and calculated response from T1 and T2 mathematical model can be illustrated in Figure 8.16.



Figure 8.16: Experiment 6 - Actual response and calculated response from T1 and T2 mathematical model

MAPE of this experiment is depended on calculated response and actual response that can be resulted in Table 8.10.

Table 8.10: MAPE of experiment 6	
T1 mathematical model T2 mathematical model	
2.84% 3.76%	

Conclusions and recommendations Figure 8.16 shows the nearly similar characteristic between calculated and actual values. In addition, MAPE of T1 and T2 mathematical model are resulted as Table 8.10, 2.84% and 3.76%, respectively that are both lower than 5%. Therefore, the mathematical model, Equation (8.1) and Equation (8.2) are acceptable to represent the relationship between generated power and nozzle opening value. These parameters of the equation will be used to build the nozzle opening block (see Section 7.4.3) and will be used in next experiments.

8.2.3 Experiment 7 - Verify mathematical models

Objectives recognition The objective of experiment is to verify the calculated nozzle opening value from mathematical models in experiment 6.

Selection of response The response of interest for the experiment is the generated power of T1.

Selection of process variables The calculated opening value of nozzle from T1 mathematical model.

Evaluation criteria recognition The evaluation criteria of this experiment can be done by the comparison of experimental results and measurement data. Two results are plotted and MAPE is calculated. Similar graphics visualization of two results and MAPE < 5% are accepted.

Performing the experiment The experiment will be performed as Figure 8.17. The hydraulic efficiency curve block, turbine block and nozzle opening block are used. The T1 nozzle opening block includes the parameters of Equation (8.1). In this experiment, T2 is forced to be stop since the objective of this experiment is to focus only T1.

Interpreting experimental results Experimental results are collected and can be plotted in Figure 8.18.

MAPE of this experiment can be resulted in Table 8.11.



Figure 8.17: Simulation model for experiment 7



Figure 8.18: Experiment 7 - Comparison of experiment and measurement values

Conclusions and recommendations According to Figure 8.18, the experiment 7 results illustrate the similar trend and no large difference comparing with generated power of turbine from measurement due to MAPE as 0.77%. Therefore, the calculated opening

Table 8.11: MAPE of experiment 7		
Experiment 7 Previous work		
0.77% 11.38%		

value of nozzle from mathematical model in experiment 6 is acceptable and can be used to calculate nozzle opening value for turbine block in simulation model corresponding to the measured generated power of turbine.

Confirmation run Another dataset is used for confirmation run of this experiment. The challenge is that these dataset do not have the information about the measured nozzle opening values of turbine, only have the values of generated power of turbines. These values are used to calculate the nozzle opening values by Equation (8.1) and Equation (8.2). The calculated nozzle opening values are applied for simulation model. To perform confirmation run, the experiment is set as Figure 8.19 and hydraulic efficiency block, nozzle opening block of two turbines are used in this confirmation run. The nozzle opening block includes the parameters of Equation (8.1) and Equation (8.2).



Figure 8.19: Simulation model for confirmation run in experiment 7

The confirmation run results are collected and plotted in Figure 8.20 and Figure 8.21. MAPE of confirmation run can be resulted in Table 8.12.

Table 8.12: MAPE of confir	mation run in experiment 7
T1 confirmation run	T2 confirmation run
1.11%	1.17%

.

95



Figure 8.20: Experiment 7 - Confirmation run using mathematical model of T1

With same evaluation criteria in experiment 7, through confirmation run of this experiment, the mathematical models of T1 and T2 in experiment 6 are acceptable to be accurate.



Figure 8.21: Experiment 7 - Confirmation run using mathematical model of T2

8.3 Outlet System Experiment

The experiment on outlet system of hydraulic system in hydropower plant model is to complete the simulation model. Because of the lack of component in OpenHPL, "Open-Channel" block that can be shown in [62], the experiment on this system is mainly to verify and confirm the design of outlet system in reality. The elements in this system are OutletT1, OutletT2, Tunnel_3 and Culvert due to Table 4.1.

8.3.1 Experiment 8 - Culvert diameter

Objectives recognition The objective of experiment is to verify and confirm the design of the actual outlet system.

Selection of response The response of interest for the experiment is height of water level in the culvert.

Selection of process variables The variable in this experiment is the diameter of culvert.

Evaluation criteria recognition According to the objective of this experiment, the height of water level in the culvert is examined with the diameter of culvert in the real-world power plant. Water level in the culvert at zero means good drainage and demonstrates the right design of diameter of culvert.

Performing the experiment The experiment is implemented as Figure 8.22. The parameters of elements in this experiment are set according to the geographical data from Table 4.1.

The blocks named "T1" and T2 are "Volume flow source" block with having setting of nominal flowrate of two turbines. Furthermore, from experiment 3 and experiment 4, the block "bendPipe" as loss coefficient parameter, 10, showed that it is a good component illustrating the branching part, therefore this component are used in this experiment.

Using sweep parameters in Dymola/Modelica with the change in diameter in component "Culvert" from 0.5m to 3m and get the corresponding values of water pressure in "Culvert" component. These pressure values are used to calculate the height of water level in Culvert by Equation (3.2).

Interpreting experimental results The experimental results are collected and plotted in Figure 8.23.



Figure 8.22: Simulation model of experiment 8



Figure 8.23: Change the water level in the culvert according to its diameter

Conclusions and recommendations According to Figure 8.23, with the setting of nominal flowrate of two turbines, the height of water level inside culvert is zero. It illustrates that the diameter of culvert in actual power plant as 2m, satisfied the amount of water discharged and ensured the nominal operation of two turbines.

Furthermore, if the diameter of culvert is small, the capability of discharging outlet water from two turbines is low leading to the full of water inside the tunnel and flowing to two turbines causing the damage to turbines and the power plant that can be seen from Figure 8.23 with 0.5m diameter of culvert leading to 250m water level. In this case, the diameter of culvert is above 1m to satisfy the capability of discharging outlet water.

Hence, with this experiment, the design of diameter of culvert in the actual power plant is accurate and shows full capability of discharging the outlet water in nominal operation condition of the power station.

Through set of experiments on hydraulic system model, the complete model of this system can be shown in Figure 8.24.



Figure 8.24: Complete model of hydraulic system with three verified and optimized parts

8.4 Electrical System Experiment

8.4.1 Experiment 9 - Voltage drop

Objectives recognition The objective of experiment is to verify the voltage drop across transmission system of G1 branch under the change of load.

Selection of response The response in this experiment is the voltage drop magnitude.

Selection of process variables The variable in this experiment is the value of the load.

Evaluation criteria recognition The similar values of voltage drop magnitude from calculation and simulation can be accepted.

Performing the experiment The information of elements in electrical system model is in [4].

The experiment of simulation model is implemented as Figure 8.25 with the load change from 1 MW to 15 MW. In this experiment, input mechanical power of generator block is set at constant.



Figure 8.25: Simulation model of experiment 9

The calculation of this experiment can be shown in Appendix C.

Interpreting experimental results The experimental results are collected and plotted in Figure 8.26.



Figure 8.26: Experiment 9 - Comparison between experiment and calculation values

Conclusions and recommendations According to Figure 8.26, with the increase of load values, the voltage drop across transmission system from calculation and experiment also increases. However, these results are different that requires measurement data in electrical system to verify calculation and experiment results from electrical system model.

9 Discussion

The main purpose of this thesis was to apply "Design of Experiments" methods to verified hydropower plant simulation model created by OpenHPL in Dymola/Modelica regarding to available data from measurement system of the power plant.

This chapter consists of three parts: Measurement data, DoE method which aimed to detail and evaluate the DoE applications to experiments of verification; and Experiments.

9.1 Measurement Data

There are several sensors located in hydropower plant with different labels. In progress of preparing data for experiments, it is difficult to recognize the sensors measuring in which components in the power plant. The names of measurement data from Table 4.4 based on the labels of sensors, therefore, are modified to get easier understanding about the measurement data in this report.

The provided data from sensors which was used in this report, are combination data at different point of time at previous work and this semester. Since the different operating conditions of hydropower plant depended on the change of seasons, some of measurement data at component units in the power plant is not available, therefore, measured values in experiments can be retrieved from different times and data sources.

The tolerances of typical sensors from Table 4.5 show the low value illustrating the reliability of sensors from the manufacture, however, in the realistic power plant, the measurement system is influenced different bias from environment, operating conditions, etc. The provided data from some sensors showed the inaccurate values and filtered out of used measurement data. Measurement names in Table 4.4 are considered as reliable, accurate data source.

The lack of measurement data in electrical system leads to situation where experiment of electrical system model did not have reference values and is replaced by calculated values. To verify the electrical system model, it requires measurement data in this system to examine the accuracy of simulation and calculated results.

9.2 DoE Method

9.2.1 DoE Principles

DoE has blocking, repetition and randomization that are fundamental principles for setting experiment configurations. These rules are useful in real-world experiments since there are appearance of environment bias or uncontrollable factors. For simulation model, that is created by combination of massive mathematical equations along with logical principles, therefore, there is almost no influences from environment or operation procedures in real-world. Components of model are built by input parameters from realistic system and it is easy to recognize with missing information of component's input parameter and they are taken into consideration.

The blocking principle is extremely helpful in the experiments that divides the model into several portions and conducts to verify each portions to gain the completed and reliable final model.

Replication shows a helpful support for blocking which replicates each portions under various conditions to ensure the reliability of final given conclusion of experiment before moving to next experiment and this is important, especially experiments having sequence.

The principle, randomization, is useful for simulation model in a situation where it is difficult to select suitable design elements or suitable parameters for components in simulation model. In hydraulic system model, this principle is applied to select randomly the parameter of roughness factor of tunnel units in experiment 2 and loss coefficient of "bendPipe" component in experiment 4. In experiment 3, there are only three designs for branching part in experiment 3 and in case of many elements in library, this principle can be applied to select randomly elements and perform experiments on these elements to get suitable option.

9.2.2 DoE Steps

DoE procedures from first step, object recognition, to last step, conclusions and recommendation, (see Section 2.4) have a sequence and close relationship with each other. These contribute to a systematic and organised experimental performance that helps to make specific experiment plan as well as implementation steps under vast amount of data.

In progress of performing experiments, the step of evaluation criteria recognition is added in the set of DoE procedures that is different than cited documents such as [5] or [7]. In simulation model required high accurate results, it is necessary to figure out criteria to compare the simulation results with reference values, not only the results shown in plot, therefore, MAPE is also included.

This step is added in this report as standard helping recognize the success or failure of experiment. In addition, the criteria of MAPE in experiments is usually set at lower than 5% from [61] which is considered as reference criteria under comparing with measurement data. In other experiments of simulation model, MAPE can be set at lower depended on the objective of simulation model and the reliability of reference values.

Step 4, selection of experimental design, is obtained to figure out the type of experiment design for the experiment as well as calculating the number of experiment runs. This step is extremely effective for planning real-life experiments to avoid resources and time consuming by including main impact variables, their interaction and their levels. However, the simulation model with time-varying variables was performed on the software including a series of levels in time series, so the experiments on the simulation model are totally done by OFAT method.

9.3 Experiments

Experiments on inlet system model were mainly used measured flowrate and pressure data. Through experimental results in experiment 1 to 4, it can be seen that when the water flowrate increases, the water pressure decreases. This can be explained by Bernoulli principle that is "In water or air currents, if the velocity is low, the pressure is high. If the velocity is high, the pressure is small" [63].

The inlet system model of hydropower plant is created based on OpenHPL in Dymola. Through experimental results, specifically, experiment 1 showed the similar results between simulation and measurement, however, the simulation illustrated the lower response than the measurement data as well as peak-peak values are higher than measurement data. This comes from the components built in OpenHPL. The model used mainly "Conduit" block in OpenHPL that is elastic conduit and is the main reason for the difference between simulation and measurement results. The influences and comparison between elastic and inelastic components can be illustrated in [64].

Through experiment 1 and experiment 2, the difference of results from experiment and previous work is considered. The inaccurate setting of block "fitting" in the simulation model of previous work is the culprit of this discrepancy. Therefore, through experiments of verification, the error of previous work model can be figured out.

In turbine system experiment, original turbine block in OpenHPL used in previous work only contains one input nozzle opening value. This block can be used in case of turbine having one nozzle. However, in case of more than one nozzle same as T1, the average of opening value of nozzles is used for this input and this way showed the inaccuracy through previous work and experiment 5. Therefore, the mathematical model between nozzle opening value and generated power of turbine was created through experiment 6. This model is useful in case of no information of measured opening values. In reality, based on this mathematical model, the necessary opening value of nozzle can be calculated according to desired power.

It is noted that the generated power of turbines illustrated in previous work and set of experiments on turbine system is power at the shaft of turbine that matches with provided measurement data in Table 4.4. According to Equation (3.6) and Equation (3.7), the power at the shaft of turbine is influenced by hydraulic and mechanical efficiency. Hydraulic efficiency can be shown in Appendix D while the mechanical efficiency is not available in this thesis. However, the mechanical losses were provided by Skagerak Kraft AS company and were considered as constant in this thesis during the different operating periods of turbines and were applied in turbine block illustrating in [4].

10 Conclusion and Further Work

10.1 Conclusions

The experiments of verification of simulation model of Grunnåi hydropower plant as a typical hydropower plant, was executed in this Master's Thesis where "Design of Experiments" method was applied. This study was mainly focused on application of DoE method on planning, performing experiments on simulation model with the purpose of verifying and optimizing the model under vast amount of measurement data.

DoE method including fundamental principles, experimental procedures and statistical background shown in this report was used as a foundation of experiments on simulation model, which aimed to verify and optimize the model. These set of experiments figured out the variables having strong influences to the model and examined the uncontrollable factor impacts. In addition, the relationship between variables and response have been given by mathematical model depended on statistical background of DoE. Overall, through experiments of verification, the complete and optimized simulation model was established that produces high reliable and accurate results.

In progress of executing experiments, the vast amount of measurement data provided by Skagerak Kraft AS must be analyzed and cleaned according to necessary quantities in different dataset. This thesis also contributed effective and efficiency data analyzing method that will be used in experiments. In addition, not all the provided measurement data is totally accurate, the complete simulation model have capability of examining the data from measurement system of hydropower plant and proposing measurement locations to gain the two-way system monitoring. Through existing work in this project, the factors affecting realistic hydropower plant such as roughness factor of waterway, hydraulic efficiency or nozzle opening value were taken into account and given in this report that lays a groundwork for future research in hydropower plant.

In the significant increase of simulation tools and software, this thesis basically contribute the simple and effective method to verify and optimize the simulation model in different engineering field that helps satisfying further study and research in the future.

10.2 Further work

The simulation model of Grunnåi hydropower plant was not totally verified such as electrical system because of the lack of measurement data. The model of this system will be verified in the future after having available data in this system.

This simulation model are helpful tools to verify the data from measurement system.

The block named "OpenChannel" in the OpenHPL should be examined and developed to satisfy the simulation model demands.

The turbine block in the OpenHPL should be developed to take as input the number of nozzles helping examining the nozzle opening values.

Machine learning can be applied in the future to predict operating condition and detect error of hydropower plant. The data retrieved from machine learning can be examined in the simulation model to give reliable prediction of the power plant operation.
Bibliography

- Which are the world's biggest sources of renewable power? [Online]. Available: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2015/11/which-are-the-worlds-biggestsources-of-renewable-power/ (visited on 22/12/2021).
- [2] Electricity production. [Online]. Available: https://energifaktanorge.no/en/ norsk-energiforsyning/kraftproduksjon/ (visited on 22/12/2021).
- [3] About us Skagerak Kraft, May 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.skagerakkraft. no/about-us/category2464.html (visited on 24/12/2021).
- [4] L. N. H. Pham, M. Nouman and C. Gløsmyr, 'Modelling and Verification of the Grunnåi Research Power Plant,' University of South-Eastern Norway, Kjølnes, 3914 Porsgrunn, Norway, Master Project, 2021, p. 73.
- [5] J. Antony and J. Antony, Design of Experiments for Engineers and Scientists. Jordan Hill, UNITED KINGDOM: Elsevier, 2003, ISBN: 978-0-08-046995-9. [Online]. Available: http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/ucsn-ebooks/ detail.action?docID=286669 (visited on 20/01/2022).
- [6] Design of Experiments (DOE) for Engineers. [Online]. Available: https://www.sae.org/learn/content/c0406/ (visited on 17/03/2022).
- B. Durakovic, 'Design of experiments application, concepts, examples: State of the art,' *Periodicals of Engineering and Natural Sciences*, vol. 5, pp. 421–439, Dec. 2017. DOI: 10.21533/pen.v5i3.145.
- [8] D. Emily, B. Sarah, K. Melissa and T. Steven, Randomization: A core Principle of DOE, Aug. 2020. [Online]. Available: www.afit.edu/STAT.
- [9] What are response surface designs, central composite designs, and Box-Behnken designs? Type: mtbconcept. [Online]. Available: https://support.minitab.com/ en-us/minitab/18/help-and-how-to/modeling-statistics/doe/supportingtopics/response-surface-designs/response-surface-central-compositeand-box-behnken-designs/ (visited on 25/03/2022).
- [10] Randomizing run order in a designed experiment / Random effect. [Online]. Available: https://randomeffect.net/post/2020/10/10/when-to-randomize-the-doe/ (visited on 25/03/2022).
- [11] Basic Principles of Experimental Designs / eMathZone, Nov. 2014. [Online]. Available: https://www.emathzone.com/tutorials/basic-statistics/basicprinciples-of-experimental-designs.html (visited on 20/01/2022).

- [12] Blocking (statistics), tex.copyright: Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike License, Jan. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php? title=Blocking_(statistics)&oldid=1064340756 (visited on 20/01/2022).
- [13] Introduction to Design of Experiments (DOE)- DOE Types. [Online]. Available: https://www.weibull.com/hotwire/issue85/relbasics85.htm (visited on 25/03/2022).
- [14] Qualitative vs. Quantitative Data: What's the Difference? And Why They're So Valuable / FullStory. [Online]. Available: https://www.fullstory.com/blog/ qualitative-vs-quantitative-data/ (visited on 25/03/2022).
- [15] Factorial Experimental Design Voxco, Sep. 2021. [Online]. Available: https:// www.voxco.com/blog/factorial-experimental-design/ (visited on 25/03/2022).
- [16] Design of Experiments (DOE) Tutorial. [Online]. Available: https://www.moresteam. com/toolbox/design-of-experiments.cfm (visited on 26/03/2022).
- [17] Stephanie, Percent Error / Percent Difference: Definition, Examples, en-US, Nov. 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.statisticshowto.com/percent-error-difference/ (visited on 11/05/2022).
- [18] Graphical methods in Statistics / Health Knowledge. [Online]. Available: https:// www.healthknowledge.org.uk/public-health-textbook/research-methods/ 1b-statistical-methods/graphical-methods-statistics (visited on 28/03/2022).
- [19] Graphical Representation Definition, Rules, Principle, Types, Examples, en. [Online]. Available: https://www.cuemath.com/data/graphical-representationof-data/ (visited on 10/05/2022).
- [20] Linear regression, tex.copyright: Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike License, Mar. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title= Linear_regression&oldid=1076565441 (visited on 23/03/2022).
- [21] J. Brownlee, Linear Regression for Machine Learning, Mar. 2016. [Online]. Available: https://machinelearningmastery.com/linear-regression-for-machinelearning/ (visited on 03/04/2022).
- [22] Types of Hydropower, en. [Online]. Available: https://www.hydropower.org/iha/ discover-types-of-hydropower (visited on 16/05/2022).
- [23] D. Winkler, FM3217 Object-oriented Modelling of Hydro Power Systems L1: Overview of Components - Lecture note.
- [24] 12.1: Flow Rate and Its Relation to Velocity, en, Nov. 2015. [Online]. Available: https://phys.libretexts.org/Bookshelves/College_Physics/Book%3A_ College_Physics_(OpenStax)/12%3A_Fluid_Dynamics_and_Its_Biological_ and_Medical_Applications/12.01%3A_Flow_Rate_and_Its_Relation_to_ Velocity (visited on 06/05/2022).

- [25] What is Fluid Pressure: Formula, Types of Fluid Pressure, Factors, en-US, Section: Force and Pressure, Mar. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.toppr.com/guides/physics/force-and-pressure/fluid-pressure/ (visited on 08/05/2022).
- [26] C. B. Basnet and K. K. Panthi, 'Roughness evaluation in shotcrete-lined water tunnels with invert concrete based on cases from Nepal,' *Journal of Rock Mechanics and Geotechnical Engineering*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 42–59, Feb. 2018, ISSN: 1674-7755. DOI: 10.1016/j.jrmge.2017.07.006. [Online]. Available: https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1674775517301348 (visited on 26/02/2022).
- [27] *Pipe Roughness*. [Online]. Available: https://www.pipeflow.com/pipe-pressuredrop-calculations/pipe-roughness (visited on 26/02/2022).
- [28] Looking at tunnel roughness International Water Power. [Online]. Available: https: //www.waterpowermagazine.com/features/featurelooking-at-tunnelroughness/ (visited on 27/03/2022).
- [29] A. Kjølle, Hydropower in Norway Mechanical Equipment. Trondheim, Dec. 2001.
- [30] V. Splavska, 'Simulation and control of hydro power plants,' University of South-Eastern Norway, Master Thesis, 2017.
- [31] GROSS HEAD NET HEAD AND EFFICIENCY OF TURBINE. [Online]. Available: https://www.hkdivedi.com/2019/06/gross-head-net-head-andefficiency-of.html (visited on 12/04/2022).
- [32] D. Winkler, FM3217 Object-oriented Modelling of Hydro Power Systems L2: Energy Conversion Lecture note.
- [33] L. Vytvytskyi, 'Dynamics and model analysis of hydropower systems,' University of South-Eastern Norway, Campus Porsgrunn, Doctoral dissertation no. 37, 2019.
- [34] O. Y. Leman, R. Wulandari and R. D. Bintara, 'Optimization of Nozzle Number, Nozzle Diameter and Number of Bucket of Pelton Turbine using Computational Fluid Dynamics and Taguchi Methods,' *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science* and Engineering, vol. 694, no. 1, p. 012017, Nov. 2019, ISSN: 1757-8981, 1757-899X. DOI: 10.1088/1757-899X/694/1/012017. [Online]. Available: https: //iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1757-899X/694/1/012017 (visited on 27/03/2022).
- [35] Pelton turbine Energy Education. [Online]. Available: https://energyeducation. ca/encyclopedia/Pelton_turbine (visited on 09/01/2022).
- [36] Kaplan Turbines Renewables First, en-GB. [Online]. Available: https://www. renewablesfirst.co.uk/hydropower/hydropower-learning-centre/kaplanturbines/ (visited on 05/05/2022).

- [37] Per-unit system, tex.copyright: Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike License, Jan. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title= Per-unit_system&oldid=1063621632 (visited on 13/04/2022).
- [38] E. Granath, Basics of an electrical power transmission system, en. [Online]. Available: https://www.power-and-beyond.com/basics-of-an-electrical-powertransmission-system-a-919739/ (visited on 11/05/2022).
- [39] Voltage Regulation of Transmission Lines: Dependencies and Parameters, en-US. [Online]. Available: https://resources.system-analysis.cadence.com/blog/ msa2020-voltage-regulation-of-transmission-lines-dependencies-andparameters (visited on 11/05/2022).
- [40] E. Corà, Hydropower Technologies: The state-of-the-art, Aug. 2019.
- [41] Hydroelectric power / Definition, Renewable, Advantages, Disadvantages, & Facts / Britannica, en. [Online]. Available: https://www.britannica.com/science/hydroelectric-power (visited on 09/05/2022).
- [42] Transformer, en, Page Version ID: 1086705931, May 2022. [Online]. Available: https: //en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Transformer&oldid=1086705931 (visited on 09/05/2022).
- [43] Types of Transformer different types of transformer, Sep. 2015. [Online]. Available: https://circuitglobe.com/types-of-transformer.html (visited on 28/03/2022).
- [44] Grunnåi Skagerak Kraft, May 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.skagerakkraft. no/grunnai/category2311.html (visited on 25/12/2021).
- [45] Google Maps, en-NO. [Online]. Available: https://www.google.com/maps/ place/Grunn%C3%A5i+Kraftverk+Skagerak+Energi/@59.4302066,8.6913184, 116652m/data=!3m1!1e3!4m5!3m4!1s0x46475555f7e30673:0xe6f20d64cf2800f5! 8m2!3d59.5162889!4d8.6622037 (visited on 14/05/2022).
- [46] HydroCord FDB, en-GB. [Online]. Available: https://www.fdb.no/en/hydrocord/ (visited on 06/05/2022).
- [47] SCADA, en-US. [Online]. Available: http://energysystems.am/automation/ scada/ (visited on 14/05/2022).
- [48] Acoustic Flow Measurement GWF MessSysteme AG. [Online]. Available: https: //gwf.ch/en/acoustic-flow-measurements/ (visited on 31/03/2022).
- [49] Druck UNIK 5000 Pressure Sensing Platform / Pressure Sensors / Instrumart. [Online]. Available: https://www.instrumart.com/products/32260/druck-unik-5000-pressure-sensing-platform (visited on 31/03/2022).
- [50] Modelica Language Modelica Association. [Online]. Available: https://modelica.org/modelicalanguage.html (visited on 16/01/2022).

- [51] What is Python? Executive Summary. [Online]. Available: https://www.python. org/doc/essays/blurb/ (visited on 16/01/2022).
- [52] Multi-Engineering Modeling and Simulation Dymola product line. [Online]. Available: https://www.3ds.com/products-services/catia/products/dymola/keyadvantages/ (visited on 16/01/2022).
- [53] OpenHPL, Nov. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://github.com/OpenSimHub/ OpenHPL (visited on 16/01/2022).
- [54] M. Baudette, M. Castro, T. Rabuzin, J. Lavenius, T. Bogodorova and L. Vanfretti, 'OpenIPSL: Open-Instance Power System Library — Update 1.5 to "iTesla Power Systems Library (iPSL): A Modelica library for phasor time-domain simulations,' *SoftwareX*, vol. 7, pp. 34–36, 2018. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.softx.
 2018.01.002. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S2352711018300050.
- [55] OpenIPSL: Open-Instance Power System Library: tex.copyright: MPL-2.0, Jan. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://github.com/OpenIPSL/OpenIPSL (visited on 16/01/2022).
- [56] Scikit-learn: Machine learning in Python scikit-learn 1.0.2 documentation. [Online]. Available: https://scikit-learn.org/stable/ (visited on 07/05/2022).
- [57] R. Python, *Linear Regression in Python Real Python*. [Online]. Available: https://realpython.com/linear-regression-in-python/ (visited on 29/03/2022).
- [58] ISO 8601, tex.copyright: Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike License, Mar. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=ISO_ 8601&oldid=1078093662 (visited on 22/03/2022).
- [59] Pandas Python Data Analysis Library. [Online]. Available: https://pandas. pydata.org/ (visited on 05/05/2022).
- [60] Mean absolute percentage error, en, Page Version ID: 1074407064, Feb. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Mean_ absolute_percentage_error&oldid=1074407064 (visited on 11/05/2022).
- [61] D. A. Swanson, 'On the Relationship among Values of the Same Summary Measure of Error when it is used across Multiple Characteristics at the Same Point in Time: An Examination of MALPE and MAPE,' p. 15, 2015.
- [62] L. Vytvytskyi, User's guide for the Open Hydropower Library (OpenHPL), Sep. 2019.
- [63] Guide: Flow Rate and Pressure Relationship-How to Calculate? en-US, Section: Flow Measurement Solutions, Sep. 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.drurylandetheatre. com/flow-rate-and-pressure/ (visited on 06/05/2022).

 [64] L. Vytvytskyi and B. Lie, 'Comparison of elastic vs. inelastic penstock model using OpenModelica,' eng, 20-28, 2017, Accepted: 2018-01-24T10:20:15Z, ISSN: 1650-3686.
 DOI: 10.3384/ecp1713820. [Online]. Available: https://openarchive.usn.no/ usn-xmlui/handle/11250/2479320 (visited on 15/05/2022).

Appendix A

Task Description

University of South-Eastern Norway

Faculty of Technology, Natural Sciences and Maritime Sciences, Campus Porsgrunn

FMH606 Master's Thesis

<u>Title</u>: Application of Design of Experiments for the Verification of a Hydro Power Plant

USN supervisor: Dietmar Winkler

External partner: Skagerak Kraft AS (Ingunn Granstrøm)

Task background:

Skagerak Kraft is among the largest power producers in Norway. Each year, the company delivers about 5700 GWh of clean, renewable energy from 48 wholly or partially owned power plants. This is equivalent to the consumption of 285,000 homes, and nearly 4.5 % of the total power production in the country.

The Grunnåi watercourse primarily runs through Seljord municipality in Telemark county. Its outlet is from the east side of the valley at Vallaråi river in Flatdal. The source of the watercourse is Slåkåvatn lake on Lifjell mountain. It is dammed up at the top of Grisejuvet where the intake is also located.

The power plant was commissioned in 2006 and utilises a waterfall height of 387 metres.

In 2019, an extra generator was installed and increased the annual production to 66 GWh. The original generator has an installed capacity of 15.1 MW and an annual output of 55 GWh, while generator 2 has an installed capacity of 10.2 MW and an annual output of 11 Gwh.

The new machine can facilitates a research projects. It is possible to mount sensors on the impeller, and windows are fitted to the machine making it possible to look into the turbine during production. This allows for logging of high resolution data streams of multiple measurements.



Task description:

In autumn 2021 a model of the water way and electrical connection was modelled as part of a master project. As a continuation of that project now the different parts of the models need to be verified using measurement data from the plant. Because of the vast amount of data available it is crucial to do the verification in an organised and systematic way. This is where the "Design of Experiments" principle should be applied.

Tasks:

- 1. Make yourself familiar with the existing Modelica model of the Grunnai waterway and electrical installation including the OpenHPL and OpenIPSL which the model is based on.
- 2. Familiarise yourself with the "Design of Experiments" principle with the goal of verification of as many parts of the model as possible.
- 3. Investigate the available data and the resolution they can be accessed in.
- 4. Investigate the parameters that can potentially be tuned given the available measurement data.
- Define dedicated simulation cases in order to obtain data to verify and adjust certain parameters of the models or models themselves.
- 6. Plan a suitable sequence of simulation cases and which also defines successive simulation cases.
- 7. Execute the planned simulation cases and adapt the models accordingly
- 8. Document the carefully the achieved verifications and uncertainties, both in the report and in the test models themselves.

Student category: EPE

Is the task suitable for online students (not present at the campus)? n/a

Practical arrangements:

This thesis requires a very structured working attitude. Models and testcases are to be versioned in Git such that they can be recreated easily at a later point in time. The work will can be executed in Dymola or OpenModelica (possibly in combination with Python).

Supervision:

As a general rule, the student is entitled to 15-20 hours of supervision. This includes necessary time for the supervisor to prepare for supervision meetings (reading material to be discussed, etc).

Signatures:

Supervisor (date and signature):

2022-02-01 P. Dinkle

Student (write clearly in all capitalized letters):

LE NAM HAI RHAM

Student (date and signature):

2022-02-01